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MDS Financial Group Ltd (the “Company” ASX: MWS) is pleased to submit its full year Audited results for the 

2013 fi nancial year.

A copy of the full report is attached and can be downloaded from the MDS Financial Group website 

at www.mdsfi nancial.com.au.

Note on Accounting Standards 

Following completion of the Preliminary Final Report (issued 30 August 2013), the Company’s Auditors adjusted 

expired unlisted options in accordance with AASB 2. This does not have any material effect on the accounts. 

 

Wayne Johnson

Chairman

END

ABOUT MDS FINANCIAL GROUP

MDS Financial Group is a full-service corporate advisory and capital markets specialist with clients in Australia 

and the Asia-Pacifi c region. The Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd (ASX), and has 

three licensed subsidiaries. One of its licensed subsidiaries is an ASX market participant, with institutional 

and third-party wholesale brokerage facilities underpinned by substantial retail online trading and market data 

services.

All market announcements are available to view at www.mdsfi nancial.com.au/asx and at www.asx.com.au.

For more information please contact:
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MDS Financial has emerged as a leading provider of investment tools and 
services to the retail, wholesale and corporate financial services markets. 

From a solid foundation in stock market software and online trading, MDS 
has expanded into the B2B market with wholesale broking and institutional 
equity sales, and is now forging an international presence through 
strategic relationships with, and corporate advisory services to, companies 
in Australia and Asia. 

MDS occupies a niche position in the Australian financial sector, as a mid-
size company serving a broad spectrum of client groups, from individual 
share market investors to large-scale corporate entities and fund 
managers. 

The company is further distinguished by its proprietary market analysis 
technology. These advanced tools, which include unique chart indicators 
and back testing systems, have been developed in-house over a number 
of years and are now provided to clients through the d2mxIRESS online 
trading platform. 

Governed by an experienced Board of directors and operated by a 
dedicated and efficient team, MDS is guided by its core values of 
outstanding customer service, innovation, ethical investing and delivering 
financial advice with integrity.  

The company was formed in 2006 through the merger of Bourse Data Pty 
Ltd, The Cube Financial Group Pty Ltd and MDSnews Pty Ltd - three 
market-leading providers of financial research, wholesale data services, 
charting and analysis software. 

With the subsequent acquisitions of Trader Dealer Online Pty Ltd and 
D2MX Pty Ltd, MDS developed an integrated online trading, general 
advisory and software service catering to retail traders, and an extension 
into wholesale trade execution for holders of Australian Financial Services 
Licenses (including dealers and institutional investors) through its 
subsidiary D2MX Pty Ltd, an ASX Participant Stockbroker. 

Leveraging off the expertise, experience and network reach of our 
executive personnel MDS has now successfully launched its corporate 
advisory division, which specialises in facilitating capital transactions 
including IPOs, capital raising, seed and private equity development. 

With this vision for strategic growth MDS is building a scaleable platform in 
the 2014 financial year to deliver on its stated mission – to provide the 
services and support our clients need to achieve success in the Australian 
equity markets. 
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“MDS stands at the juncture of a 
number of opportunities with potential 
to further expand the Company’s 
market reach, through additional 
complementary service offerings.”  
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Group Operating Structure 
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Portfolio of Companies 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

D2MX Pty Ltd is an ASX market participant 
providing advisory and trade execution 
services to retail investors, institutional and 
wholesale broker dealer groups. Services 
include: 
 

• General Advice  
• Corporate Advisory 
• Institutional Equity Sales 
• Wholesale Broking 

 
 
 

Trader Dealer Online Pty Ltd is an online trading 
company providing execution-only trading and 
software solutions for clients investing in ASX equities, 
options and warrants.  
 
Proprietary software platforms include d2mxIRESS 
and Market Analyser. 
 

  

 

Bourse Data Pty Ltd is a software technology 
company that develops, sells and supports 
The Bourse market data platform. 

 

 

MDS Financial Services Pty Ltd holds an Australian 
Financial Services License, through which it provides 
corporate advisory and private client services. 
 

  

 
 
 

MDSnews is the original holding company, 
owns the IP rights to the Market Analyser 
trading platform, a 15% share of Finance TV 
and 100% of Trader Dealer Online. 

 

Finance TV Pty Ltd is one of the largest providers of 
online finance and business video news in Australia 
through the Finance News Network. 
 
*15% ownership 
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Chairman’s Report 

Dear Shareholders 

As our operating environment continues to present challenges to financial service providers, I’m pleased to report MDS is 
making solid progress on a number of fronts.  
 
Throughout this financial year our focus has been two-fold: reducing expenditure, and diversifying revenue streams to 
strengthen the Company’s position for growth with an efficient and expandable platform in Australasia. 
 
Our service and product integration has enabled us to implement significant cost reduction measures while delivering an 
improved product to clients. Additionally, a strong drive to improve efficiency across all business areas has resulted in savings in 
direct costs, employee and operational expenses. Together, these measures have resulted in an improvement in operational 
expenditure for this past 12 months. 
 
A new concentration on commercial client acquisition and the development of strategic relationships has also delivered pleasing 
results across all segments of the Company. 
 
As we continue to implement these measures I’m confident MDS is laying the foundations for delivering both improved services 
to clients and increased value for shareholders. 
 
Strategic Relationships 
In October 2012 MDS cemented a strategic relationship with FortuneHao Capital and Shanghai Fortunehao Investment and 
Management.   
 
This partnership delivered direct financial benefits to the Company balance sheet, and has opened up channels for new 
business opportunities in Asia, particularly in the area of Chinese entities seeking to list on the ASX.  
 
In addition we have been working on several new strategic relationships which are being developed to provide scalability for the 
Company in the coming year.  
 
Changes to the Board and Senior Management 
In January this year I was proud to be elected as Chairman of MDS Financial Group following the resignation of Mr Sean 
Rothsey from the Board of Directors. Mr Rothsey was appointed to the Board in 2007 and elected as Chairman in 2008 through 
to 2013. 
 
We also farewelled senior executives Damian Isbister, Tony Iremonger and Tom Boland, each of whom made important 
contributions to the Company’s development.  
 
We were delighted to welcome Mr Peter Stirling to the Board of Directors. Peter has an extensive background in business 
media and a particular interest in working with SMEs, bringing a valuable diversification of skill sets to the Board.  
  
We were also pleased to appoint Mr Andrew Phillips as company secretary.  Andrew has strong corporate governance 
credentials and valuable experience gained from holding senior executive financial and commercial management positions 
throughout the Asia Pacific region. 
 
Together these appointments, along with other personnel changes and reassignments have brought an impressive range of 
skills and experience to the Company while enabling a rationalised Company structure.  
 
Outlook 
Having rationalised the cost base for the Company, we are now focused on producing top line revenue which will provide a 
leveraged result to the profitability of the Company in the future. The Board is currently in discussion with a number of 
companies regarding collaborative ventures which have the potential to add to the scale, value and profitability of the Company.  
 
The Board has announced a Rights Issue to raise approximately $1.5 million to strengthen the balance sheet and position the 
Company to take advantage of strategic growth opportunities as they arise. 
 
There are signs of green shoots appearing in the market, with improved ASX market turnover and higher trading volumes since 
January this year. Post-election optimism is showing early signs of fuelling business and consumer confidence, and the ASX 
200 reached 5-year highs in September 2013.  
 
While we hope this swing towards greater market confidence gains momentum, MDS still faces many challenges and intends to 
maintain its program of streamlining costs and exploring new revenue opportunities in the 2013-2014 financial year, while 
targeting new business development opportunities as an Australasian-focused company. 
 
I’d like to thank our customers, suppliers, shareholders and staff for their continued support of MDS during this period of 
transformation.  
 

 
 
Wayne Johnson 
Chairman, MDS Financial Group Ltd 
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Board of Directors 
 
Wayne Johnson 
Executive Chairman 
 
In December 2007, Wayne vended Cube Financial into public company MDSnews (ASX: MWS) at the same time as 
Bourse Data, with a strategy to capitalise on the synergies of the new group, now known as MDS Financial Group Ltd. 
Wayne stepped down as CEO of MDS in July 2007 and as a director in October 2007 but remained a major 
shareholder. 
 
 In 2010, Wayne's advice and business management was requested by the management and Board of MDS and Wayne 
has been actively advising, managing and assisting management with growth strategies ever since. He rejoined the 
Board in May 2011 and is currently Executive Chairman and heads the Corporate Advisory division.   
 
Richard Symon 
Executive Director 
 
Prior to joining MDS Financial Richard was the CEO of NSX Ltd (ASX:NSX) the operator of the National Stock Exchange, 
and the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now SIM Venture Securities Exchange). He co‐founded and was CEO of Sharetrade 
Australian Stockbroking Ltd which was taken over by PBL‐listed subsidiary eCorp, and merged to bring Charles Schwab 
to Australia in 2000. 
  
Richard served in roles as executive director of the Securities and Derivatives Industry Association (now Stockbrokers 
Association of Australia) and  the  full  service  stockbroker Prudential‐Bache Securities.  Richard  is a Fellow of Finsia, 
Master  Stockbroker  (MSAA),  Deputy  Chairman  of  Variety  the  Children's  Charity  (Vic)  and  also  Chairman  of  the 
Financial Services Foundation, a Melbourne‐based organisation supporting children's charities. 
 
Jamie Khoo 
Non‐Executive Director 
 
Ms Khoo brings to MDS Financial over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. Ms Khoo also has 
extensive corporate experience on project financing, company funding, initial public offering, investment evaluations, 
due diligence and structuring. 
 
Until recently an executive director of Singapore‐listed Adventus Holdings Ltd (5EF.SGX), Ms Khoo held key positions 
in STT Communications Ltd and its various subsidiaries, mainly in the areas of finance and investments, with ABB 
Holdings Ltd in Hong Kong and Beijing and with both Ernst and Young Singapore and Baker Hughes Group Singapore. 
 
Peter Stirling 
Non‐Executive Director  
 
Peter has a background in the business media, conferencing and online fields having founded SME business magazines 
including titles such as Franchising and Enterprise. Mr Stirling has written extensively for business magazines including 
BRW on growth companies and the venture capital industry. He has wide and deep experience in the SME field and 
was a driving force behind the expansion of the Australian Small Business Association (ASBA). 
 
Mr Stirling has a particular interest in working with SMEs to create a more fertile environment for their expansion, 
including the development of improved funding channels for growth‐oriented SMEs and family businesses. Mr. Stirling 
has directorships in the dental health field and is a major shareholder in a company that provides a platform for the 
raising of equity capital for small companies, including technology enterprises. 
 

. 
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Summary of Results 
 
Operating Performance 
 

Year ended 30 June 2013
$’000 

2012
$’000 

Revenue   
Subscriptions and data fees 1,873 3,397 
Brokerage and commissions 3,561 3,547 
Corporate fees 353 698 
Other 6 (277) 
 5,795 7,365
   
Expenses   
Data fees 1,150 1,941 
Dealing and settlement 1,997 2,317 
Employee benefits 2,019 2,380 
Occupancy 366 420 
Telecommunications 263 330 
Marketing 112 307 
General and administrative 995 910 
Depreciation and impairment 85 1,315 
Other 407 337 
 7,394 10,257
   
Reported loss after tax (1,599) (2,892)

 

The Company’s restructuring and 
rationalisation throughout the year has 
produced a leveraged result. 

Despite declined revenue to the prior 
year, the restructuring of the cost 
base has produced a reduction in the 
operating loss and negative cash flow 
on the prior year. 

In summary; 

The consolidated entity incurred an 
operating loss of $1,598,504, for the 
year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: 
$2,892,244).  This represents a 45% 
improvement on the prior year. 

Total revenue of $5,553,483 (2012: 
$7,393,123). This represents a 25% 
decline on the prior year. 

Total expenses of $7,105,604 (2012: 
$10,257,676).   This represents a 31% 
improvement on the prior year. 

Cash Flow 
 

Year ended 30 June 2013
$’000 

2012
$’000 

Cash flows from operations   
Customer receipts 5,979 8,297 
Supplier and employee payments (6,905) (9,283) 
Interest received 6 10 
Interest paid (62) (36) 

Operating cash flow (982) (1,012)
   
Investing cash flow 7 (57) 
Financing cash flow 1,002 465 
Total cash flow 27 (604)
   
Opening cash 288 892 
   
Closing cash 315 288

Negative operating cash flow of 
$982,046 (2012: $1,012,044). This 
represents a 3% improvement year on 
year. 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Position 
 
 As at 30 June 2013

$’000 
2012
$’000 

   
Total current assets 1,142 1,188 
Total non-current assets 1,666 1,715 
Total assets 2,808 2,903

 
Total current liabilities 2,780 2,747 
Total non-current liabilities 23 31 
Total liabilities 2,803 2,778

 
Net assets 5 125
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Business Review 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Broking 
 
While brokerage revenue has been 
affected by difficult market conditions 
during this period, we secured new 
wholesale and institutional clients, and 
also saw an increase in the number of 
retail trading accounts being opened. 
These signs of confidence in our 
product offering lend weight to our 
confidence in being well-positioned for 
growth when the market environment 
improves.  
 
We were also delighted to see our 
online trading offering recognised in 
the media. The Australian Financial 
Review’s “Smart Investor Magazine” 
named us in its inaugural Top 5 
Brokers list, and awarded us the 
Editor’s Choice for Best Overall Value 
in the Cheapest Brokerage category.   
 
Data Subscriptions 
 
We are pleased to report that the 
Software and Data business unit 
remains profitable, returning a 
$547,921 revenue result for the 12 
months to June 30, 2013. 
 
During this period we completed our 
major software transformation project  
to IRESS, which has enabled 
substantial reductions in direct costs, 
and associated variable costs while 
streamlining operational efficiencies.  
 
Despite some erosion of the revenue 
from this transition, the consolidation 

has resulted in margin improvements 
which have negated this reduction. 
 
The full financial benefit of this 
implementation is expected to be 
realised in the 2013-2014 financial 
year. 
 
Corporate Advisory 
 
Revenue through the Corporate 
Advisory division increased 42% 
during the period. The Company was 
pleased to obtain a number of 
attractive mandates, including Initial 
Public Offering management for Sino 
Australia Oil and Gas Ltd and general 
advisory work with Priority One Ltd, 
Campus One Pty Ltd and Agri Trustee 
Company Ltd.  
 
The financial benefits of the Sino IPO 
and other corporate work are 
expected to bear fruit in the 2013-
2014 financial year. In addition, 
managing this transaction has 
provided MDS with an effective 
channel for furthering the Company’s 
reach into Asian investor markets. 
  
While the prevailing caution in the 
market has impacted on these and 
other capital raising transactions 
generally, we believe the sector has 
capacity for growth.  
 
 
Future Developments 
 
With the restructured Board and 
Management working to a clear and 

united strategy, we believe that the 
Company is now well on the way to 
becoming a significant niche player in 
the financial services market in 
Australia and Asia and has 
established a new corporate vision: 
“To champion innovation and 
excellence in delivering award-winning 
financial services”. 
 
Recognising that the acquisition path 
the Group has followed over several 
years has seen several businesses 
integrated under the MDS Financial 
Group umbrella, a decision has been 
made to rationalise all brands under 
one master brand. Following the 
finalising of a number of strategic 
relationships in the forthcoming 
months,  the Group plans to launch a 
new website in the near future while 
refining and developing the brand 
image to represent the future direction 
of the Group. 
 
The rationalisation of all businesses 
under a single banner will enable the 
Group to consolidate its three existing 
AFS Licences where appropriate, 
thereby reducing associated 
compliance costs and risks. 
 
The Board is confident that its 
renewed focus and direction will, in 
conjunction with improving market 
conditions, deliver improved results in 
the coming year. 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 10
`` 

MDS Financial Group Limited 
ABN 90 091 744 884 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contents 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Corporate Governance Statement 11 
Directors’ Report 21 
Remuneration Report (audited) 26 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 30 
Statement of Profit and Loss and other  
Comprehensive Income 

 
32 

Statement of Financial Position 34 
Statement of Changes in Equity 35 
Statement of Cash Flows 36 
Notes to the Financial Statements 37 
Directors’ Declaration 73 
Audit Report 74 
Additional ASX Information 76 
Corporate Information 78 
 
 



 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 11
 

Corporate Governance Statement 
 
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of MDS Financial Group Limited (“the company”) is responsible for the corporate 
governance of the consolidated entity.  The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the company on 
behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
The table below summarises the company’s compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Revised 
Principles and Recommendations. 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

1.1 Establish the functions reserved 
to the Board and those 
delegated to manage and 
disclose those functions. 

The Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of the company. 

The Board has adopted a Board charter that 
formalises its roles and responsibilities and 
defines the matters that are reserved for the 
Board and specific matters that are delegated 
to management. 

The Board has adopted a Delegations of 
Authority that sets limits of authority for senior 
executives. 

On appointment of a director, the company 
issues a letter of appointment setting out the 
terms and conditions of appointment to the 
Board. 

Complies. 

1.2 Disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of 
senior executives. 

Senior executives prepare strategic objectives 
that are reviewed and signed off by the Board.  
These objectives must then be met by senior 
executives as part of their key performance 
targets.  The chief executive officer (CEO) then 
reviews the performance of the senior 
executives against those objectives.  The 
Board reviews the CEO’s compliance against 
his and the company’s objectives.  These 
reviews occur annually or more frequently as 
required. 

Complies. 

1.3 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 1. 

A Board charter has been disclosed on the 
Company’s website and is summarised in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 

Complies. 

  A performance evaluation process is included 
in the Board Charter, which has been 
disclosed on the company’s website and is 
summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

Complies. 

  The Board conducted a performance 
evaluation for senior executives in the financial 
year in accordance with the process above. 

 

 

 

 

 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 

2.1 A majority of the Board should 
be independent directors 

The majority of the Board’s directors are not 
independent as a majority of the Board are 
either a substantial shareholder or are 
executive directors of the company. 

Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo is an independent 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Wayne Noel Johnson is an Executive 
Director. 

Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon is an 
Executive Director. 

Mr Peter John Stirling is a Non-Executive 
Director but not independent due to being a 
substantial shareholder. 

 

Does not comply however 
the skills and experience of 
both the independent and 
non-independent directors 
allow the Board to act in 
the best interests of 
shareholders. 

2.2 The chair should be an 
independent director. 

Wayne Johnson is the Chairman and is an 
Executive Director 

Does not comply. 

2.3 The roles of the chair and chief 
executive officer should not be 
exercised by the same 
individual. 

Wayne Johnson is the Chairman and Richard 
Symon is an Executive Director and acting 
Chief Executive Officer 

Complies. 

2.4  The Board should establish a 
Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. 

The Company has established a separate 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix 
of skills and experience on the Board in light 
of the company’s principal activities and 
direction, and has considered diversity in 
succession planning.  The Board considers 
the current mix of skills and experience of the 
members of the Board and its senior 
management is sufficient to meet the 
requirements of the company. 

The Board supports the nomination and re-
election of the directors at the company’s 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Complies. 

2.5 Disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of 
the Board, its Committees and 
individual directors. 

The company conducts the process for 
evaluating the performance of the Board, its 
Committees and individual directors as 
outlined in the Board Charter which is 
available on the company’s website. 

The Board’s induction program provides 
incoming directors with information that will 
enable them to carry out their duties in the 
best interests of the company.  This includes 
supporting ongoing education of directors for 
the benefit of the company. 

 

 

Complies. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

2.6 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2. 

This information has been disclosed (where 
applicable) in the directors’ report attached to 
this Corporate Governance Statement. 

Complies. 

  Jamie Khoo is an independent director of the 
company.  A director is considered 
independent when they substantially satisfy 
the test for independence as set out in the 
ASX Corporate Governance 
Recommendations. 

Members of the Board are able to take 
independent professional advice at the 
expense of the company. 

Wayne Johnson, Executive Chairman was 
appointed to the Board on 20 May 2012 and 
appointed Executive Chairman on 23rd 
January 2013. 

Richard Symon, Executive Director was 
appointed to the Board in November 2008. 

Jamie Khoo, Independent Non-Executive 
Director was appointed to the Board on 28 
February 2012. 

Peter Stirling, Non-Executive Director was 
appointed to the Board on 24 June 2013. 

The company has established separate 
Nominations and Remuneration Committees. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix 
of skills and experience on the Board in light 
of the company’s principal activities and 
direction, and has considered diversity in 
succession planning.  The Board considers 
the current mix of skills and experience of 
members of the Board and its senior 
management is sufficient to meet the 
requirements of the company. 

In accordance with the information suggested 
in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2, the 
company has disclosed full details of its 
directors in the director’s report attached to 
this Corporate Governance Statement.  Other 
disclosure material on the Structure of the 
Board has been made available on the 
company’s website. 

 

The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees 
operate under respective 
separate charters.  In 
addition, the Board does 
not consist of a majority of 
independent directors 
however the skills and 
experience of both the 
independent and non-
independent directors allow 
the Board to act in the best 
interests of shareholders. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

3.1 Establish a code of conduct 
and disclose the code or a 
summary of the code. 

The Board has adopted a code of conduct.  
The code establishes a clear set of values 
that emphasise a culture encompassing 
strong corporate governance, sound business 
practices and good ethical conduct. 

The code is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

3.2 Companies should establish a 
policy concerning diversity and 
disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy.  The 
policy should include 
requirements for the Board to 
establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and for the Board to 
assess annually both the 
objectives and progress in 
achieving them. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the 
mix of skills and experience on the Board in 
light of the company’s principal activities and 
direction. 

The code is available on the company’s 
website. 

The Board has a Diversity Policy which 
acknowledges ‘Merit and Ability’ and 
therefore does not have a formal diversity 
policy. The documentation of the company 
diversity policy can be located on the 
company website.  

Complies. 

 

3.3 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 3. 

On completion and acceptance of a Diversity 
Policy, the company will report in each annual 
report the measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by the Board. 

The company has one female on the Board 
and two females in executive positions, 
appointed in accordance with the companies 
above mentioned policies. 

Complies. 

  The company will include in the directors’ 
report the proportion of women employees 
and their position held within the company. 

Number of Board members:                       4 

Number of female Board members:           1 

Number of senior executive staff:              5 

Number of female senior executive staff:  2 

Female positions held; 

Compliance Manager 

Financial Controller    

          

Complies 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

4.1 The Board should establish 
and Audit Committee. 

The Board has established an Audit 
Committee which operates under an Audit 
Committee charter to focus on issues 
relevant to the integrity of the company’s 
financial reporting. 

Complies. 

 



 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 15
 

Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

4.2 The Audit Committee should be 
structured so that it consists of 
only non-executive directors, a 
majority of independent 
directors, is chaired by an 
independent chair who is not 
chair of the Board and have a 
least 3 members.  

Members of the Audit Committee are Jamie 
Khoo (Chair), Wayne Johnson and Richard 
Symon.  Jamie Khoo is a non-executive 
director and is not chair of the Board.  The 
Committee consists of one non-executive 
director and two executive directors. 

The Audit Committee did not comply with 
Recommendation 4.2 in that the Committee: 

• did not consist of only non-executive 
directors; 

• did not consist of a majority of independent 
directors; and, 

 

Does not comply due to the 
composition of the 
Committee and Board.  
However, the Board 
considers the directors to 
be the most appropriate 
members to constitute the 
Audit Committee given their 
technical, finance and 
accounting expertise and 
broad knowledge of the 
industry in which the 
company operates. 

4.3 The Audit Committee should 
have a formal charter. 

The Board has adopted an audit charter. 

This charter is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies.  

4.4 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 4. 

In accordance with the information suggested 
in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4, this has 
been disclosed in the directors report attached 
to this Corporate Governance Statement and 
is summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

The members of the Audit Committee are 
appointed by the Board and recommendations 
from the Committee are presented to the 
Board for further discussion and resolution. 

The Audit Committee held four meetings 
during the period to the date of the directors’ 
report and meets at least twice per annum. 

The audit charter, and information on 
procedures for the selection and appointment 
of the external auditor, and for the rotation of 
external audit engagement partners (which is 
determined by the Audit Committee), is 
available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 

5.1 Establish written policies 
designed to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rules 
disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at a 
senior executive level for that 
compliance and disclose those 
policies or a summary of those 
policies. 

The company has adopted a continuous 
disclosure policy, to ensure that it complies 
with the continuous disclosure regime under 
the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

This policy is available on the company’s 
website 

Complies. 

5.2 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5. 

The company’s continuous disclosure policy is 
available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 
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Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 

6.1 Design a communications 
policy for promoting effective 
communication with 
shareholders and encouraging 
their participation at general 
meetings and disclose that 
policy or a summary of that 
policy. 

The company has adopted a shareholder 
communications policy.  The company uses 
its website (www.mdsfinancial.com.au), 
annual report, market announcements and 
media disclosures to communicate with its 
shareholders, as well as encourages 
participation at general meetings. 

This policy is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

6.2 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6. 

The company’s shareholder communications 
policy is available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 

7.1 Establish policies for the 
oversight and management of 
material business risks and 
disclose a summary of these 
policies. 

The company has adopted a risk 
management statement within the Audit and 
Risk Committee charter.  The Audit and Risk 
Committee is responsible for managing risk; 
however, ultimate responsibility for risk 
oversight and risk management rests with the 
Board. 

The audit and risk charter is available on the 
company’s website and is summarised in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 

Complies. 

7.2 The Board should require 
management to design and 
implement the risk 
management and internal 
control system to manage the 
company’s material business 
risks and report to it on whether 
those risks are being managed 
effectively.  The Board should 
disclose that management has 
reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material 
business risks. 

The company has identified key risks within 
the business.  In the ordinary course of 
business, management monitor and manage 
these risks. 

Key operational and financial risks are 
presented to and reviewed by the Board at 
each Board meeting. 

Complies. 

7.3 The Board should disclose 
whether it has received 
assurance from the chief 
executive officer and chief 
financial officer that the 
declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of 
risk management and internal 
control and that the system is 
operating efficiently in all 
material respects in relation to  

The Board has received a statement from the 
chief executive officers and chief financial 
officer that the declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal 
control and that they system is operating 
efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects in relation to the financial reporting 
risks. 

Complies. 
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Principles and Recommendations Compliance Comply 

 the financial reporting risks.   

7.4 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7. 

The Board has adopted an audit and risk 
charter which includes a statement of the 
company’s risk policies. 

This charter is available on the company’s 
website and is summarised in this Corporate 
Governance Statement. 

The company has identified key risks within 
the business and has received a statement of 
assurance form the chief executive officers 
and chief financial officer. 

Complies. 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

8.1 The Board should establish a 
Remuneration Committee 

The Board has established separate 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and 
has adopted a remuneration charter.  

Complies. 

8.2 The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 
should be structured 

The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee: 

• consist of a majority of independent 
directors; 

• are chaired by an independent director; 
and;  

• has three members. 

Does not comply due to the 
composition of the 
Committee and the Board.  
However the Board 
considers the members of 
the Committee to be 
appropriate. 

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure 
of non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior 
executives. 

The company complies with the guidelines for 
executive remuneration packages and non-
executive director remuneration. 

No senior executive is involved directly in 
deciding their own remuneration. 

Complies. 

8.4 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 8. 

The Board has adopted a Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee Charter. 

The company does not have any schemes for 
retirement benefits. 

Complies. 

    

 
MDS Financial Group Limited’s corporate governance practices were in place for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 
and to the date of signing the directors’ report. 
 
Various corporate governance practices are discussed within this statement.  For further information on corporate 
governance policies adopted by MDS Financial Group Limited, refer to our website: www.mdsfinancial.com.au. 
 
As required by the ASX Listing Rules, this statement sets out the extent to which the Company has followed the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (“Recommendations”) during 
the year to 30 June 2013. The Company considers that its governance practices are generally consistent, where 
possible, with the Recommendations except where stated. 
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Board functions 
 
The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. 
 
To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Group including formulating its 
strategic direction, approving and monitoring capital expenditure, setting remuneration, appointing, removing and 
creating succession policies for directors and senior executives, establishing and monitoring the achievement of 
management’s goals and ensuring the integrity of internal control and management information systems. 
 
It is also responsible for approving and monitoring financial and other reporting 
 
Responsibilities/functions of the Board include: 
 
• setting the direction, financial objectives and goals for management; 
• reviewing and approving strategies for the Company; 
• monitoring management’s performance against these goals and objectives; 
• ensuring there are appropriate standards of Corporate Governance and ethical standards; 
• evaluating the performance and determining the remuneration of the senior executive officers of the Company; 
• ensuring appropriate risk management systems, internal control, reporting systems and compliance frameworks 

are in place and operating effectively; and 
• ensuring there are plans and procedures for recruitment, training, remuneration and succession planning for 

senior executives. 
 
The Board has delegated responsibility for operating and administration of the Company to the executive management. 
Responsibilities are delineated by formal authority delegations. 
 
Matters which are specifically reserved for the Board or its Committees include the following: 
 
• appointment of the Chairman and if applicable, the Deputy Chairman; 
• appointment and removal of the Chief Executive Officer(s); 
• appointment of directors to fill a vacancy or as additional directors; 
• establishment of Board Committees, their membership and delegated authorities; 
• approval of dividends; 
• development and review of corporate governance principles and policies; 
• approval of major capital expenditure, acquisitions and divestitures in excess of authority levels delegated to 

management; 
• calling meetings of shareholders and; 
• any other specific matters nominated by the Board from time to time. 
 
Structure of the Board 
 
The company’s constitution governs the regulation and proceedings of the Board. 
 
It is intended that the composition of the Board be determined using the following principles: 
 
• a minimum of three directors, with a broad range of expertise; 
• a majority of directors having extensive knowledge of the Company’s industries, and those who do not, having 

extensive experience in significant aspects of auditing and financial reporting, or risk management of large 
companies; 

• a majority of independent non-executive directors; 
• enough directors to serve on various Committees without overburdening the directors or making it difficult for 

them to fully discharge their responsibilities; and, 
• a maximum period of ten years service, subject to re-election every three years (except for the managing 

director). 
 
At present the company does not have a majority of independent directors and continues to consist of a majority of 
executive directors involved in the general management of the Company.  The Directors are of the view that maintaining 
this structure is appropriate to the circumstances of the Group as the Board consolidates the restructure of its operations 
and repositioning of its business. 
 
The Board only considers directors to be independent where they are independent of management and free of any 
business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the 
exercise of their unfettered and independent judgment.  The Board has adopted a definition of independence based on 
that set out in Principle 2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Revised Principles and Recommendations.  The Board will 
review the independence of each director in light of interests disclosed to the Board from time to time. 
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In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following directors of 
MDS Financial Group Limited are considered to be independent: 
 
Name Position 
Jamie Gee Choo Khoo 
 

Non-Executive Director 
 

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors in furtherance of their duties to seek 
independent professional advice at the company’s expense. 
 
The appointment date of each director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
 
Name Position Appointment Date
Wayne Noel Johnson Executive Director, Chairman previously Deputy Chairman 20 May 2012 
Jamie Gee Choo Khoo Non-Executive Director 28 February 2012 
Bruce Richard Sydney Symon Executive Director 27 November 2008 
Peter John Stirling Non - Executive Director 24 June 2013 
 
Further details on each director can be found in the directors’ report attached to this Corporate Governance Statement. 
 
Securities trading policy 
 
The company has adopted a Share Trading Policy which complies with the requirements of ASX Listing Rules. 
 
Under the company’s Share Trading Policy, directors, officers and employees of the company are prohibited from dealing 
in the company’s securities at any time that they may be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information 
concerning the company.  In addition, there are specified closed periods during which dealing in the company’s securities 
is prohibited except under very exceptional circumstances.  A closed period is the period commencing from the end of a 
reporting period and concluding on the business day following the announcement to the market of the company’s full 
year results of half-year results (as the case may be). 
 
Directors, officers and employees can only deal in the company’s securities after having first obtained clearance from the 
chairman and must notify the company secretary when a trade has occurred. 
 
As required by the ASX Listing Rules, the company notifies the ASX of any transaction conducted by directors in the 
securities of the company within five days of the transaction taking place. 
 
The Share Trading Policy has been issued to ASX and can be found on the company’s website. 

 
Audit Committee 
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee which operates under a Charter approved by the Board.  It is the Board’s 
responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity.  This includes internal controls 
to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the 
maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations 
such as the benchmarking of operational key performance indicators.  The Board has delegated responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining a framework of internal control and ethical standards to the Audit Committee. 
 
The Committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for 
inclusion in the financial reports. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee during the year were: 
 
Jamie Khoo (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Damian Isbister (Executive Director) (resigned 17 July 2012) 
Richard Symon (Executive Director) 
Wayne Johnson (Executive Director, Chairman)  
 
The external auditors and the executive management are invited to Audit Committee meetings at the discretion of the 
Committee. 
 
For details on the number of meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the directors’ report. 
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Risk and Compliance 
 
The responsibility for overseeing risk falls within the charter of the Risk and Compliance Committee.  The company 
identifies areas of risk within the company and management and the Board continuously undertake a risk assessment of 
the company’s operations, procedures and processes.  The risk assessment is aimed at identifying the following: 
 
• a culture of risk control and the minimisation of risk throughout the company, which is being done through natural or 

instinctive processes by employees of the company; 
 

• a culture of  risk control that can easily identify risks as they arise and amend practices; 
 

• the installation of practices and procedures in all areas of the business that are designed to minimise an event or 
incident that could have a financial or other effect on the business and its day to day management; and, 
 

• adoption of these practices and procedures to minimise many of the standard commercial risks, ie taking out the 
appropriate insurance policies, or ensuring compliance reporting is up to date. 

 
CEO and CFO certification 
The chief executive officer and chief financial officer have given a written declaration to the Board required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 that in their view: 
 
• the company’s financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 

control which implements the financial policies adopted by the Board; 
 

• the company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material 
respects; 
 

• the company’s financial statements and notes thereto comply with the accounting standards; and, 
 

• the company’s financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date. 
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Directors’ Report 
 
The directors of MDS Financial Group Limited (“the Company”) present the annual financial report for the Group, being 
parent entity and its subsidiaries, for the year ended 30 June 2013.  In order to comply with the provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows: 
 
The names and particulars of the directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Mr Sean Peter Rothsey 
 
Non-Executive Chairman (initially appointed 19 September 2007, appointed Chairman 7 February 2008, resigned 23 

January 2013) 
 
Mr Wayne Noel Johnson 
 
Executive Chairman (initially appointed 20 May 2012, appointed Chairman 23 January 2013) 
 
In December 2007, Wayne vended Cube Financial into public company MDSnews (ASX: MWS) at the same time as 
Bourse Data, with a strategy to capitalise on the synergies of the new group, now known as MDS Financial Group Ltd. 
Wayne stepped down as CEO of MDS in July 2007 and as a director in October 2007 but remained a major shareholder. 
In 2010, Wayne's advice and business management was requested by the management and Board of MDS and Wayne 
has been actively advising, managing and assisting management with growth strategies ever since. He rejoined the 
Board in May 2012 and is currently executive chairman and head of Corporate Advisory. 
 
Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon 
 
Executive Director (appointed 27 November 2008) 
 
Prior to joining MDS Financial Richard was the CEO of NSX Ltd (ASX:NSX) the operator of the National Stock Exchange 
and the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now SIM Venture Securities Exchange). He co-founded and was CEO of Sharetrade 
Australian Stockbroking Ltd which was taken over by PBL-listed subsidiary eCorp, and merged to bring Charles Schwab 
to Australia in 2000. 
  
Richard served in roles as executive director of the Securities and Derivatives Industry Association (now Stockbrokers 
Association of Australia) and the full service stockbroker Prudential-Bache Securities.  Richard is a Fellow of Finsia, 
Master Stockbroker (MSAA), Deputy Chairman of Variety the Children's Charity (Vic) and also Chairman of the Financial 
Services Foundation, a Melbourne-based organisation supporting children's charities. 
 
Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo 
 
Non-Executive Director (appointed 28 February 2012) 
 
Ms Khoo brings to MDS Financial over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. Ms Khoo also has 
extensive corporate experience on project financing, company funding, initial public offering, investment evaluations, due 
diligence and structuring. 
 
Until recently an executive director of Singapore-listed Adventus Holdings Ltd (5EF.SGX), Ms Khoo held key positions in 
STT Communications Ltd and its various subsidiaries, mainly in the areas of finance and investments, with ABB Holdings 
Ltd in Hong Kong and Beijing and with both Ernst and Young Singapore and Baker Hughes Group Singapore. 
 
 
Mr Damian Wayne Isbister 
 
Executive Director (appointed 27 November 2008, resigned 18 July 2012) 
 
Mr Peter John Stirling 
 
Non – Executive Director (appointed 26 June 2013) 
 
Mr Stirling has a background in the business media, conferencing and online fields having founded SME business 
magazines including titles such as Franchising and Enterprise.  
 
Mr Stirling has written extensively for business magazines including BRW on growth companies and the venture capital 
industry and established his own media and conferencing business. He has wide and deep experience in the SME field 
and was a driving force behind the expansion of the Australian Small Business Association (ASBA). 
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Directorships of other listed companies 
 
Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the last 3 years immediately before the end of the financial 
year are as follows: 
 
Director Company Exchange Period from Period to 
     
WN Johnson Greater Bendigo Gold Mines Limited ASX 10 Feb 2010 29 Nov 2012 
WN Johnson Cape Range Limited ASX 9 Sep 2009 Current 
WN Johnson Smartpay Holdings Limited NZX 15 Oct 2001 2 July 2012 
JGC Khoo 
PJ Stirling 

Refresh Group Ltd 
ASSOB Limited 

ASX 
NSX 

25 Nov 2010 
2 Feb 2011 

Current 
27 June 2013 

 
 
Directors’ shareholdings 
 
The following table sets out the number of each director’s relevant interest in shares and options over shares or interest 
in contracts relating to shares of the Company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report. 
 
Director Fully paid ordinary 

 shares 
Indirect interest in 

 shares 
Indirect interest in 

share options 
    
PJ Stirling 80,000,000 - - 
WN Johnson - 17,615,199 - 
BRS Symon 25,750,000 2,795,000 - 
 
 
Remuneration of directors and senior management 
 
Information about the remuneration of directors and key management personnel is set out in the remuneration report of 
this directors’ report on page 26. 
 
 
Company Secretary 
 
Mr Andrew Guy Phillips BBS 
Acting Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
 
Andrew was appointed Company Secretary on 26 June 2012 and as acting Chief Financial Officer from 20 July 2012.   
 
Mr Anthony John Iremonger BCom, CPA, Grad Dip ACG 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
 
Tony was appointed Company Secretary on 7 May 2010 and resigned on 20 July 2012. 
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Principal Activities 
 
The Group’s principal activity in the course of the financial year was as a provider of diversified financial services to retail 
and wholesale clients.  No significant change in the nature of this activity occurred during the year.  More details on the 
Group’s principal activities are included in the Chairman’s report on page 5 of this annual report. 
 
Review of Operations 
 
The consolidated operating net loss after income tax attributable to members is $1,598,504 (2012: $2,892,244).  A 
review of operations for the Group is set out on pages 6 to 8 of this annual report, commencing with the Chairman’s 
Report. 
 
Change in the state of affairs 
 
There has been no significant change in the state of affairs during or since the end of the financial year. 
 
Subsequent events 
 
Other than the subsequent events as disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements, there have not been any matters or 
circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected the operations of the 
Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 
 
Future Developments 
 
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Group in future financial years and the 
expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.  Accordingly, this 
information has not been disclosed in this report. 
 
Environmental regulation and performance 
 
The Group’s operations are not involved in any activities that have a marked influence on the environment.  As such, the 
directors are not aware of any material issues affecting the Group or its compliance with the relevant environment 
agencies or regulatory authorities. 
 
Dividends 
 
There have been no dividends paid or provided for (2012: nil). 
 
Share options 
 
As at the date of this report, there are nil (2012: 12,500,000) unissued ordinary shares of MDS Financial Group Limited 
under options. 
 
Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 
 
During the financial year, the Company paid premiums based on normal commercial terms and conditions to insure all 
directors, officers and employees of the Group against the costs and expenses in defending claims brought against the 
individual while performing services for the Group.  The premium paid has not been disclosed as it is subject to the 
confidentiality provisions of the insurance policy.  The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, 
except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any 
related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
 
The Company has previously entered into a Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each of its current directors: 
Messrs Johnson, Symon, Stirling and Ms Khoo; and, the following former directors: Mr Sean Rothsey, Mr Damian 
Isbister, Mr David Whitfield, Mr Allan Shek, Mr Alun Stevens, Mr Leon Hinde and Mr Barry Littler.  The purpose of the 
Deed is to: 
 

• Confirm the indemnity provided by the Company in favour of Directors under the Company’s Constitution; 
 

• Include an obligation upon the Company to maintain adequate Directors and Officers liability insurance; and 
 

• Confirm the right of access to certain documents under the Corporations Act 
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Directors’ meetings 
 
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director (while they were a director).  During the financial year, there were 19 Board meetings held.  All 
other Board matters arising during the year being resolved by Circulating Resolutions. 
 
Director  Eligible to attend Attended 

SP Rothsey 9 7 

WN Johnson 19 19 

JGC Khoo 19 19 

DW Isbister 1 1 

BRS Symon 19 16 
 
Audit Committee 
 
During the financial year, there were 4 Audit Committee meetings held.  Other matters arising during the year were 
resolved by Circulating Resolutions. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

WN Johnson  4 4 

JGC Khoo 4 4 

BRS Symon 4 4 

 
Remuneration Committee 
 
During the financial year, there was one Remuneration Committee meeting held. This meeting was added to the agenda 
of one of the Board meetings held. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

WN Johnson 1 1 

JGC Khoo 1 1 
 
 
Risk and Compliance Committee 
 
During the financial year, there were two Risk and Compliance Committee meeting held. These meetings were added to 
the agenda of two of the Audit Committee meetings held. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

JGC Khoo 2 2 

BRS Symon 2 2 
 
Nomination Committee 
 
During the financial year, there was one Nomination Committee meetings held.   This was added to one of the Board 
meetings held. Other matters arising during the year were resolved by Circulating Resolutions. 
 
Member Eligible to attend Attended 

WN Johnson 1 1 

JGC Khoo 1 1 
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Non-audit services 
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are 
outlined in note 23 to the financial statements.   
 
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services in the form of tax compliance services, during the year, 
by the auditor (or another person or firm on the auditors’ behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements do not compromise 
the external auditor’s independence, based on advice received from the Audit Committee, for the following reasons: 
 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and, 

 
• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of 

Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & 
Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditors own work, acting in a management or 
decision making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks 
and rewards. 
 

Officers of the company who are former audit partners of Hall Chadwick 
 
There are no officers of the company who are former audit partners of Hall Chadwick. 
 
Auditor’s independence declaration 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 30 of the financial report and forms part of the Directors’ 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2013. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements for the 
consolidated entity and the company, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its 
Regulations. 
 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
 

A. Director and senior management details 
B. Remuneration policies 
C. Remuneration of directors and senior management 
D. Additional information 

 
A. Director and senior management details 
 
• Mr Sean Peter Rothsey Non-Executive Chairman 

        (resigned  23rd January 2013) 
• Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo Non-Executive Director 
• Mr Wayne Noel Johnson Executive Chairman  

        (appointed 23rd January 2013) 
Executive Deputy Chairman  
        (ceased 23rd January 2013) 
 

• Mr Damian Wayne Isbister Executive Director  
 (resigned 17 July 2012)  

• Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon Executive Director  
 
In addition to the directors noted above, the following persons represent the senior management of the Group during or 
since the end of the year: 
 
• Mr Thomas Patrick Boland Chief Executive Officer – Trading 

 (resigned 31st January 2013) 
• Mr Craig Bradley Foley Chief Information Officer 
• Mr Anthony John Iremonger 

 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary  
 (resigned 17th July 2012) 

• Mr Andrew Guy Phillips Acting Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
(appointed Company Secretary 17th July 2012) 

 
B. Remuneration policies 
 
The performance of the Group depends upon the quality of its directors and executives.  The Group recognises the need 
to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives. 
 
The Board of Directors, through its Remuneration Committee, accepts responsibility for determining and reviewing 
remuneration arrangements for the directors and the senior management team.  The Remuneration Committee assesses 
the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of directors and senior managers on a periodic basis by 
reference to relevant employment market conditions, giving due consideration to the overall profitability and financial 
resources of the Group, with the objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
Board and executive team. 
 
The Board proposes to review reward structures and the remuneration arrangements for directors and executives in 
conjunction with a return to profitability. 
 
Non-executive director remuneration 
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made of the directors in fulfilling their 
responsibilities.  Non-executive director fees are reviewed annually by the Board.  The constitution of the Company 
provides that the non-executive directors of the company are entitled to such remuneration, as determined by the Board, 
which must not exceed in aggregate the maximum amount determined by the Company in general meeting.  The most 
recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 15 December 2006 where the shareholders approved 
an aggregate remuneration of $200,000. 
 
Senior management and executive director remuneration 
Executive remuneration comprises: 
• Fixed remuneration component 
• Variable remuneration component including short-term incentive (STI) and long-term incentive (LTI). 
 
Fixed remuneration 
Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration as well as employer contributions to superannuation.  Remuneration 
levels are reviewed annually through a process that considers individual performance and that of the overall Group. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
Variable remuneration – short term incentive (STI) 
STIs are available to executives who achieve revenue and/or profit targets.  The Board is responsible for determining 
who is eligible to participate in STI arrangements as well as the structure of those arrangements. STIs include 
participation in the Company’s Employee Share Scheme.  No STI’s, including options have been awarded in the current 
financial year. 
 
Variable remuneration – long term incentive (LTI) 
The objective of the LTI plan is to reward senior managers in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with 
the creation of shareholder wealth.  As such, LTI grants are only made to executives who are able to influence the 
generation of shareholder wealth and thus have a direct impact on the Group’s performance against relevant long term 
performance hurdles.  LTI grants to executives are delivered in the form of options or shares. 
 
No LTI grants were allocated during 2013.  In 2011 a total of 12,500,000 fully vested options, issued for nil consideration, 
exercisable at 5 cents and expiring 30 June 2013 have been allocated under the LTI program to key management 
personnel.  There is no performance criteria associated with the issue of these options. 
 
C. Remuneration of directors and senior management 
 
Remuneration shown below relates to the period in which the director or executive was a member of key management 
personnel. Amounts below have either been paid out or accrued in the period. Included in the cash salary and fees are 
short term benefits being; director fees, management contracts and fees earned from mandated corporate activity. 
 

 Short-term benefits Post 
employment 

benefits 

Long-term 
benefits 

Share-based payments Total 

 
Cash salary 

and fees Bonus 
Super-

annuation 

Long 
service 
leave Shares 

Equity 
settled  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
2013        
Non-Executive Directors:        
JGC Khoo 22,018 - 1,982 - - - 24,000 
SP Rothsey 35,000 - 3,150 - - - 38,150 
        
Executive Directors:        
DW Isbister 32,661 - 1,315 - - - 33,976 
WN Johnson 152,500 - - - - - 152,500 
BRS Symon 
 

140,000 - - - - - 140,000 

        
Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

       

TP Boland 103,010 - 8,820 - - - 111,830 
CB Foley 136,000 - 12,240 - - - 148,240 
AG Phillips 
AJ Iremonger 

108,000 
45,671 

- - 
3,350 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

108,000 
49,021 

 774,860 - 30,857 - - - 805,717 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 

 Short-term benefits Post 
employment 

benefits 

Long-term 
benefits 

Share-based payments Total 

 
Cash salary 

and fees Bonus 
Super-

annuation 

Long 
service 
leave Shares Options  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
2012        
Non-Executive Directors:        
JGC Khoo 22,018 - 1,982 - - - 24,000 
SP Rothsey 60,000 - 5,400 - - - 65,400 
        
Executive Directors:        
DW Isbister 210,000 - 15,535 - - - 225,535 
WN Johnson 120,000 - - - - - 120,000 
BRS Symon 
 

120,000 - - - - - 120,000 

        
Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

       

TP Boland 146,250 - 13,163 - - - 159,413 
CB Foley 136,000 - 12,240 - - - 148,240 
AJ Iremonger 96,000 - 24,000 - - - 120,000 
 910,268 - 72,320 - - - 982,588 
Non-Executive Directors:        
 
 
The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 
 

 
Fixed remuneration 

 
At risk - STI 

 
At risk - LTI 

 
Name 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Executive Directors:       
SP Rothsey 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
JGC Khoo 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
       
Executive Directors:       
WN Johnson 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
BRS Symon 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
DW Isbister 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
       
Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

      

TP Boland 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
CB Foley 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
AG Phillips 100% 100% -% -% -% -% 
AJ Iremonger 
 

100% 100% -% -% -% -% 

 
 
There is no link between remuneration and the market price of the Company’s shares. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
Key terms of employment contracts 
The employment terms and conditions of key management personnel and Group executives are formalised in standard 
contracts of employment.  All contracts are for no fixed term with 1 month’s notice required for termination by either party. 
 
D. Additional Information 
 
The following table shows the gross revenue, profits and dividends for the last five years of the listed entity, as well as 
the share prices at the end of the respective financial years. 
 

 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
 $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 6,479,644 6,060,935 7,448,877 7,365,432 5,794,619 
Net loss -544,379 -349,140 -1,288,793 -2,892,244 -1,598,504 
Share price at year end $0.012 $0.030 $0.019 $0.016 $0.010 
Dividends paid Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited 
 
The directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s298(2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 

 
 
 
Wayne Johnson 
Chairman 
 
30 September 2013 





 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 31
 

General Information 
 
The financial report covers MDS Financial Group Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of MDS Financial Group 
Limited and the entities it controls.  The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is MDS Financial Group 
Limited functional and presentation currency. 
 
The financial report consists of the financial statements, notes to the financial statements and the directors’ declaration. 
 
MDS Financial Group Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its 
registered office and principal place of business is: 
 
Level 37 
Rialto South Tower  
525 Collins Street 
Melbourne   VIC   3000 
 
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operation and its principal activities are included in the directors’ 
report, which is not part of the financial report. 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 30 September 2013.  The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended June 2013 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Revenue 4 5,794,619 7,821,426 
    
Expenses  
Data fees  (1,149,743) (1,940,928) 
Dealing and settlement  (1,996,673) (2,317,281) 
Employee benefits 5 (2,019,415) (2,379,542) 
Occupancy expenses  (365,713) (419,893) 
Telecommunications  (263,093) (330,135) 
Marketing  (112,591) (307,578) 
General expenses  (995,326) (910,207) 
Depreciation and impairment 5 (84,617) (1,315,320) 
Impairment of financial assets  (241,136) (455,995) 
Other expenses  (164,816) (336,792) 
    
Loss before income tax  (1,598,504) (2,892,244) 
    
Income tax expense 6 - - 
    
Loss after income tax from continuing operations  (1,598,504) (2,892,244) 
    
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 
    
Total comprehensive income for the year  (1,598,504) (2,892,244) 

    
Loss for the year is attributable to:    
Owners of MDS Financial Group Limited  (1,598,504) (2,892,244) 
   

(1,598,504) 
 

(2,892,244) 
Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:    
Owners of MDS Financial Group Limited  (1,598,504) (2,892,244) 
   

(1,598,504) 
 

(2,892,244) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended June 2013 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
  Cents Cents
    
Earnings per share attributable to the owners of MDS 
Financial Group Limited 

   

    
Basic earnings per share 31 (0.451) (0.922) 
and diluted 31 (0.451) (0.922) 
    
Earnings per share for loss attributable to the owners of 
MDS Financial Group Limited 

   

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2013 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 315,526 288,755 
Trade and other receivables 8 674,651 434,680 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 - 8,840 
Other assets 10 151,272 106,067 
    
Total current assets  1,141,449 838,342 
    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 152 239,350 
Plant and equipment 11 57,661 94,601 
Intangible assets 12 1,202,685 1,250,361 
Other assets 10 405,673 480,673 
    
Total non-current assets  1,666,171 2,064,985 
    
Total assets  2,807,620 2,903,327 
    
Trade and other payables 13 2,330,347 1,799,277 
Borrowings 14 - 367,052 
Deferred income 15 263,903 375,354 
Employee benefits 16 185,175 205,236 
    
Total current liabilities  2,779,425 2,746,919 
    
Employee benefits 16 23,047 31,327 
    
Total non-current liabilities  23,047 31,327 
    
Total liabilities  2,802,472 2,778,246 
    
Net assets  5,148 125,081 

    
Equity    
Contributed equity 17 23,418,956 21,940,384 
Reserves 18 46,384 46,384 
Accumulated losses 19 (23,460,192) (21,861,687) 
   
Total equity 5,148 125,081 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 
 
Consolidated  Contributed 

Equity 
Reserves Accumulated 

Losses 
Total Equity

 $
 

$ $ $ 

     
Balance at 1 July 2011 21,845,146 46,384 (18,969,443) 2,922,087 
     
Loss after income tax expense for the 
year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(2,892,244) 

 
(2,892,244) 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(2,892,244) 

 
(2,892,244) 

     
Transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners: 

    

Share based payments    95,238 
     
     
Balance at 30 June 2012 21,940,384 46,384 (21,861,687) 125,081 
      
 
 

Consolidated  Contributed 
Equity 

Reserves Accumulated 
Losses 

Total Equity

 $ 
 

$ $ $ 

     
Balance at 1 July 2012 21,940,384 46,384 (21,861,687) 125,081 
     
Loss after income tax expense 
for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,598,504) 

 
(1,598,504) 

 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,552,120) 

 
(1,598,504) 

     
Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners: 

    

Shares issued during the year 
 

1,478,571 - - 1,478,571 
 

     
Balance at 30 June 2013 23,418,955 46,384 (23,460,192) 5,148 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 
 
 Note Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
    
Cash receipts from customers  5,978,552 8,296,919 
Cash paid to suppliers and employers  (6,904,445) (9,283,366) 
Interest received  6,152 10,175 
Interest paid  (62,305) (35,772) 
    
Net Cash used in operating activities 31 (982,046) (1,012,044) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
    
Proceeds from sale of investments  6,901 62,700 
Payment for property, plant and equipment  - (4,707) 
Payment for other assets  - (6,000) 
Payments for intangible assets  - (108,839) 
    
Net cash used in investing activities  6,901 (56,846) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
    
Proceeds from borrowings  - 571,429 
Proceeds from issue of securities net of costs  1,478,571 - 
Repayment of borrowings  (476,655) (106,122) 
    
Net cash provided by financing activities  1,001,916 465,307 
    
Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents  26,771 (603,583) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  288,755 892,338 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 7 315,526 288,755 

  
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

Note Contents 
 

1 Statement of significant accounting policies 
2 Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
3 Operating segments 
4 Revenue 
5 Expenses 
6 Income tax expense 
7 Cash and cash equivalents 
8 Trade and other receivables 
9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

10 Other assets  
11 Plant and equipment 
12 Intangibles 
13 Trade and other payables 
14 Borrowings 
15 Deferred income 
16 Employee benefits 
17 Equity - contributed 
18 Equity - reserves 
19 Equity - accumulated losses 
20 Equity - dividends 
21 Financial instruments 
22 Key management personnel disclosures 
23 Remuneration of auditors 
24 Contingent liabilities 
25 Commitments for expenditure 
26 Related party transactions 
27 Parent entity information 
28 Business combinations 
29 Subsidiaries 
30 Events occurring after the reporting date 
31 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash from operating activities 
32 Non-cash investing and financing activities 
33 Earnings per share 
34 Share based payments 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied to 
all the years presented. 
 
The financial statements are those of the consolidated entity consisting of MDS Financial Group Limited and its 
controlled entities.  Separate financial statements of MDS Financial Group Limited as an individual entity are no longer 
presented as a consequence of a change to the Corporations Act 2001, however limited financial information on MDS 
Financial Group Limited as an individual entity is included in note 27. 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial 
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the Australian Accounting Standards Board has
concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events 
and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.  Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated
otherwise. 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 
 
Except for cash flow information, where the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and based on 
historical cost. 

Going concern 

The financial report shows that for year ended 30 June 2013 the consolidated entity has a loss attributable to members 
of $1,598,504 (2012: loss $2,892,244) and a negative cash flow from operating cash flows of $982,046 (2012: 
1,012,044).  At balance date the consolidated entity has a current asset deficiency of $1,637,976 (2012: $1,558,577) and 
a net tangible asset deficiency of $1,197,537 (2012: net tangible assets $1,125,280).  These conditions indicate a 
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern is dependent upon a number of critical factors, one 
being the continuation and availability of funds.  To this end the consolidated entity is expecting to fund its obligations 
beyond this working capital position as follows: 

•         The consolidated entity is managing its outstanding creditors.  At the date of signing the financial report payments 
are being made to creditors as funds become available. A former director has issued formal legal proceedings to recover 
claimed but unapproved expenses allegedly owed at the date of signing the financial report. The Company is disputing 
the validity of the claim. 

•         The Company has commenced a non-renounceable pro-rata rights issue at an issue price of $0.01 for each new 
ordinary share on the basis of one new share for every three shares held on the record date, to raise up to the sum of 
$1,474,000. The Company will issue a maximum of 147,437,004 new shares, giving a new total of 589,748,016 shares 
on issue. It is noted that shareholder approval is not required for the rights issue to proceed. This rights issue has been 
partially underwritten for $250,000 by Sequoia Asset Management Pty Ltd, as part of a strategic alignment between the 
two Companies. 

•         Mr. Peter Stirling, a newly-appointed director and substantial shareholder of the Company, together with an 
associate will support this strategy through the provision of a convertible note facility of $250,000. The facility is for a 
period of six months or on earlier completion of the rights issue, whereupon it will automatically convert to shares under 
the same terms as offered to all shareholders under the rights issue. The facility will attract an 8% per annum coupon 
until it is repaid or the conversion is completed. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

•         The Company has budgeted an improved financial performance over the period of 12 months from the date of 
signing the financial report.  Initiatives contributing to this are: 

-       A new broking service offering to increase both the retail and wholesale client base will commence in 
the upcoming year. This initiative to produce organic growth in broking has already enabled a number of 
commission-only brokers to be engaged within the Company, with further discussions underway to engage 
third party brokers. 

-       Internal restructuring, process improvements, software enhancements, promotional activities and 
services to help retain and improve software subscription client numbers.  

-       New overseas relationships, particularly within Asia, are currently being established. These are likely to 
give the Company valuable access new markets and business opportunities. 

-       Reduction in the number of Australian Financial Services Licences held, to reduce the cost of 
compliance overheads. 

-       Completion of the IPO of a current major corporate advisory mandate (Sino Australia Oil and Gas Ltd) 
plus a number of other corporate mandates which are likely to deliver significant revenue upon completion.  

-       Marketing of data subscriptions and broking activities will be revitalised in the current financial year 
through a change in corporate branding and the release of a new community/social networking site to drive 
enhanced value for clients and engagement with peers.  

-       Evaluation and implementation of new pricing structures which accurately reflect the value of our 
service offering. 

These initiatives notwithstanding, the consolidated entity has the ability to scale down operations and discontinue certain 
programs should the need arise. 
 
Notwithstanding, the consolidated entity has the ability to scale down operations and discontinue certain programs 
should the need arise.  
 
Cash flow forecasts prepared by management demonstrate the consolidated entity has sufficient cash flows to meet its 
commitments over the next 12 months based on the above factors which include the capital raising initiatives, and for 
that reason the financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the consolidated entity is a going concern, 
which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity, realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business. 
 
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, certain 
classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
 
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of MDS Financial Group 
Limited (‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 2013 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  MDS 
Financial Group Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the ‘consolidated 
entity’. 
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  The effects of potential 
exercisable voting rights are considered when assessing whether control exists.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity.  They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the 
asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  Refer to the ‘business 
combinations’ accounting policy for further details.  A change in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of 
the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 
 
Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of comprehensive 
income and statement of financial position of the consolidated entity.  Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are 
attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a deficit balance. 
 
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity.  The 
consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is MDS Financial Group Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency. 
 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the consolidated entity has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. 
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue from the provision of services to customers is recognised upon delivery of the service to the customer. 
Revenue received that relates to the provision for future services is accounted for as deferred income.  
 
Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial 
asset. 
 
Commissions 
When the consolidated entity acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue 
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the consolidated entity. 
 
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 
Income Tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and unused tax losses and under and over provisions in prior periods, where applicable. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted except 
for: 

• When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting nor taxable profits; or 

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date.  Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for 
the carrying amount to be recovered.  Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity’s which intent to settle simultaneously. 
 
MDS Financial Group Limited (the ‘head entity’) and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed an 
income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime.  The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  The tax consolidated group has 
applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to member of the tax 
consolidated group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising  from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group.  The tax funding arrangement ensures that the 
intercompany charge equals the current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group member, resulting in neither 
a contribution by the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Trade Receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment.  Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectable are 
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.  A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there 
is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables.  Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation and default are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired.  The amount of 
the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted if the effect of discounting immaterial. 
 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
 
Investments and other financial assets 
Investments and other financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending upon their 
classification.  Classification is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification to 
other categories is restricted.  The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  For unlisted 
investments, the consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use of 
recent arms length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either: i) held for trading, where they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit; or, ii) designated as such upon initial recognition, where 
they are managed on a fair value basis or to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch.  Except for 
effective hedging instruments, derivatives are also categorised as fair value through profit or loss.  Fair value movements 
are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities, that are either 
designated as available-for-sale or not classified as any other category.  After initial recognition, fair value movements 
are recognised directly in the available–for-sale reserve in equity.  Cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the 
available-for-sale reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the 
issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower 
concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the 
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial 
asset; or, observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. 
 
The amount of the impairment allowance for financial assets carried at cost is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for similar 
financial assets. 
 
Available for sale financial assets are considered impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in 
value below initial cost.  Subsequent increments in value are recognised directly to profit or loss.  
 
Derivative financial instruments 
Derivatives are initially measured at fair values on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.   
 
Derivatives are classified as current or non-current depending on the expected period of realisation. 
 
 
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that settlement of all or 
part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to 
their present value as at the date of acquisition. 
 
Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the 
net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 
 
The depreciable amounts of all fixed assets are depreciated on a reducing balance basis over their estimated useful lives 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 

  2013 2012
Plant and equipment:  11.3% to 50%  11.3% to 50% 

 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, 
using the straight line method. 
 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value 
at the date of the acquisition.  Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost.  Intangible assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment.  The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss 
arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the intangible asset.  The method and useful lives of finite life intangibles are reviewed annually.  
Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the 
amortisation method or period. 
 
Goodwill 
Where an entity or operation is acquired in a business combination, the identifiable net assets acquired are measured at 
fair value.  The excess of the fair value of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is brought to account as goodwill.  Goodwill is not amortised.  Instead, goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently 
reversed. 
 
Australian Securities Exchange licence 
The licence relating to participant status of the Australian Securities Exchange is being amortised on a straight-line basis 
over a period of 5 years commencing 1 July 2011. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.  The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together 
to form a cash-generating unit. 
 
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid.  Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and not 
discounted. 
 
Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs.  
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, the 
loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation.  If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to 
the liability.  The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date 
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-current liabilities, depending on the unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.  The liability is measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date 
using the projected unit credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 
 
Defined contribution superannuation expense 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Share-based payments 
Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based remuneration benefits are provided to employees. 
 
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for 
the rendering of services.  Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount 
of cash is determined by reference to the share price. 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date.  Fair value is independently determined 
using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the 
option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that 
do not determine whether the consolidated entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment.  
No account is taken of any other vesting conditions. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period.  The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period.  The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts 
already recognised in previous periods. 
 
The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either the 
Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award 
was granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 

• during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied 
by the expired portion of the vesting period. 

• from the end of the reporting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at 
the reporting date. 

 
All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss.  The ultimate cost of cash-settled transaction is the cash paid 
to settle the liability. 
 
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value.  Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied. 
 
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made.  
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based remuneration benefit as at the date of modification. 
 
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the conditions 
is treated as a cancellation.  If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not 
satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, 
unless the award is forfeited. 
 
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately.  If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled 
and new award is treated as if they were a modification. 
 
Contributed equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Dividends 
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the consolidated 
entity. 
 
Business combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. 
 
Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of MDS Financial Group Limited, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.  
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax 
authority. 
 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
 
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory a
future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Group. The Group has decided not to early adopt any of the 
pronouncements. The Group’s assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Group but 
reporting periods is set out below: 

–
 
AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010). 

 These Standards are applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments.  

 The key changes made to accounting requirements include: 

 - simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those carried at fair value;

 - simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 

 - removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 

 - removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at 
amortised cost; 

 - allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these investments 
that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on 
disposal of the instrument; 

 - requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business model as they are 
initially classified based on: (a) the objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and 
(b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows; and 

 - requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of the change in 
its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, except when that would 
create an accounting mismatch. If such a mismatch would be created or enlarged, the entity is required to present 
all changes in fair value (including the effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability) in profit or loss. 

 These Standards were mandatorily applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.
However, AASB 2012–6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and
Transition Disclosures (issued September 2012) defers the mandatory application date of AASB 9 from 1 January 2013 to 
1 January 2015. In light of the change to the mandatory effective date, the Group is expected to adopt AASB 9 and AASB 
2010–7 for the annual reporting period ending 31 December 2015. Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of
AASB 9 and AASB 2010–7 may have a significant impact on the Group’s financial instruments, it is impracticable at this
stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact. 

–AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities, AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements (August 2011) and AASB 128: Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (August 2011) (as amended by AASB 2012–10: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition 
Guidance and Other Amendments), and AASB 2011–7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after
1 January 2013). 

  
AASB 10 replaces parts of AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008, as amended) and 
Interpretation 112: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  AASB 10 provides a revised definition of “control” and 
additional application guidance so that a single control model will apply to all investees. This Standard is not expected to 
significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 



 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 46
 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 2. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted (continued) 
 
AASB 11 replaces AASB 131: Interests in Joint Ventures (July 2004, as amended). AASB 11 requires joint arrangements to
be classified as either “joint operations” (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the asse
and obligations for the liabilities) or “joint ventures” (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
the net assets of the arrangement). 

  

 AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a subsidiary, joint venture, joint 
operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a “structured entity”, replacing the “special purpose entity”
concept currently used in Interpretation 112, and requires specific disclosures in respect of any investments in
unconsolidated structured entities. This Standard will affect disclosures only and is not expected to significantly impact the 
Group’s financial statements.  

 To facilitate the application of AASBs 10, 11 and 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and AASB 128 have also been issued.
The revisions made to AASB 127 and AASB 128 are not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements.

–AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 13 (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 AASB 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single Standard a framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures
about fair value measurement. 

 AASB 13 requires: 

 - inputs to all fair value measurements to be categorised in accordance with a fair value hierarchy; and 

 - enhanced disclosures regarding all assets and liabilities (including, but not limited to, financial assets and financial
liabilities) to be measured at fair value. 

 These Standards are expected to result in more detailed fair value disclosures, but are not expected to significantly impact 
the amounts recognised in the Group’s financial statements. 

–AASB 2011–4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel
Disclosure Requirements (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013). 

 This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures to remove the individual key management 
personnel disclosure requirements (including paras Aus29.1 to Aus29.9.3). These amendments serve a number of 
purposes, including furthering trans-Tasman convergence, removing differences from IFRSs, and avoiding any potential
confusion with the equivalent Corporations Act 2001 disclosure requirements. 

 This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial report as a whole because: 

 - some of the disclosures removed from AASB 124 will continue to be required under s 300A of the Corporations 
Act, which is applicable to the Group; and   

 - AASB 2011–4 does not affect the related party disclosure requirements in AASB 124 applicable to all reporting
entities, and some of these requirements require similar disclosures to those removed by AASB 2011–4. 

–AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011–10: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January
2013). 

 These Standards introduce a number of changes to the presentation and disclosure of defined benefit plans, including: 

 - removal of the “corridor” approach from AASB 119, thereby requiring entities to recognise all changes in a net 
defined benefit liability/(asset) when they occur; and 

 - disaggregation of changes in a net defined benefit liability/(asset) into service cost, net interest expense and 
remeasurements and recognition of: 

  (i) service cost and net interest expense in profit or loss; and 

  (ii) remeasurements in other comprehensive income. 

 AASB 119 (September 2011) also includes changes to the criteria for determining when termination benefits should be 
recognised as an obligation. 
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Note 2. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted (continued) 
 
The directors anticipate that the application of the amendments to AASB 119 will have an impact on the amounts reported
in respect of the Group’s defined benefit plans. 

–AASB 2012–2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 AASB 2012–2 principally amends AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures to require entities to include information that 
will enable users of their financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including
rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s 
financial position. 

 This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 

–AASB 2012–3:  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014). 

 This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Presentation to address potential 
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent 
to net settlement. 

 This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 

–AASB 2012–5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009–2011
(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 This Standard amends a number of Australian Accounting Standards as a consequence of the issuance of Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle by the International Accounting Standards Board, including: 

 - AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards to clarify the requirements in respect of the 
application of AASB 1 when an entity discontinues and then resumes applying Australian Accounting Standards; 

 - AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting to clarify the 
requirements for presenting comparative information; 

 - AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment to clarify the accounting treatment of spare parts, stand-by equipment 
and servicing equipment; 

 - AASB 132 and Interpretation 2: Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments to clarify the 
accounting treatment of any tax effect of a distribution to holders of equity instruments; and 

 - AASB 134 to facilitate consistency between the measures of total assets and liabilities an entity reports for its
segments in its interim and annual financial statements. 

 This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
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Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumption that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements.  Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.  Management bases its judgements, 
estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the resulting accounting judgements and estimates will 
seldom equal the related actual results.  The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or 
Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.  The 
accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
 
Provision for impairment of receivables 
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement.  The level of 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection 
rates and specific knowledge of the individual debtor’s financial position. Invoices relating to two (2) corporate mandates 
in progress remain outstanding post 90 days and the directors believe that these invoices are recoverable upon 
completion of these mandates. 
 
Fair value and hierarchy of financial instruments 
The consolidated entity is required to classify financial instruments, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
being Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2: Inputs other than 
quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly 
(derived from prices); and Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).  An instrument is required to be classified in its entirety on the basis of the lowest level of 
valuation inputs that is significant to fair value.  Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair 
value and therefore which category the financial instrument is placed in can be subjective. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models.  These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable 
inputs. 
 
Estimation of the useful life of assets 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and definite life intangible assets.  The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event.  The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives 
are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or 
sold will be written off or written down. 
 
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, 
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note 1.  The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations.   These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based 
on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating condition specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular 
asset that may lead to impairment.  If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  
This involves fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and 
assumptions. 
 
Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates.  Significant judgment is 
required in determining the provision for income tax.  There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during 
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.  The consolidated entity recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity’s current understanding of the tax law.  Where  
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
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Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Long service leave provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date.  In determining the present 
value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increased through promotion and inflation have been taken into 
account. 
 
Business combinations 
As discussed in note 1, business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets 
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the consolidated entity taking into 
consideration all available information at the reporting date.  Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business 
combination accounting is retrospective, where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an 
impact on the assets and liabilities, depreciation and amortisation reported. 
 
Note 3. Operating Segments 

 
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The consolidated entity is organised into three operating segments: data subscriptions, broking and corporate advisory.  
These operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who 
are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’)) in assessing performance and in determining the 
allocation of resources.  There is no aggregation of operating segments. 
 
The data subscriptions segment consists of two products: The Bourse and Market Analyser.  Goodwill associated with 
this segment relates to The Bourse.  For the year ended 30 June 2013 The Bourse’s contribution to Segment Result 
before impairment expense and revaluation increments to fair value was a profit of 294,208 (2012:$286,416) whereas 
Market Analyser’s contribution was a profit of 253,716 (2012:-$819,428). 
 
The CODM review both adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (segment result) and profit 
before income tax. 
 
The information reported to the CODM is on a least a monthly basis. 
 
 
Types of products and services 
The principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows: 
 
Data subscriptions provision of financial market data and analysis tools for sophisticated traders 
Broking  provision of execution only, online trading 
Corporate advisory provision of capital markets advice and related services 
 
All products and services are provided predominantly to customers in Australia. 
 
Intersegment transactions 
Intersegment transactions were made at cost.  Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Intersegment receivables, payables and loans 
Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received.  Intersegment loans receivable and loans 
payable that earn or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates.  
Intersegment loans are eliminated on consolidation. 
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Note 3. Operating Segments (continued) 
 
 Broking Data 

Subscriptions 
Corporate 
Advisory 

Unallocated Consolidated 

2013 $ $ $ $ $ 
     
Revenue 3,561,464 1,873,358 353,486 6,311 5,794,619 
      
Segment result before impairment 
expense and revaluation increments to 
fair value 

 
 

(1,482,753) 

 
 

547,921 

 
 

(438,250) 

 
 

15,714 

 
 

(1,357,368) 
      
Revaluation increment to fair value – 
unlisted options 
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(241,136) 

 
- 

 
(241,136) 

      
Segment result (1,482,753) 547,921 (679,386)  15,714 (1,598,504) 
      
Loss after income tax expense     (1,598,504) 
      
      
Assets  
Segment assets 1,339,731 1,356,690 111,199 - 2,807,620 
      
Total assets     2,807,620 
      
Liabilities      
Segment liabilities 1,034,719 1,351,040 416,713 - 2,802,472 
      
     2,802,472 
Total liabilities      
 
 Broking Data 

Subscriptions 
Corporate 
Advisory 

Unallocated Consolidated 

2012 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Revenue 3,919,449 3,179,215 248,294 18,474 7,365,432 
      
      
Segment result (671,692) (1,626,469) (594,083) - (2,892,244) 
      
Loss after income tax expense     (2,892,244) 
      
      
Assets  
Segment assets 1,129,755 1,489,889 393,286 - 3,012,930 
      
Total assets     3,012,930 
      
Acquisition of non-current assets - 113,546 - - 113,546 
      
Liabilities      
Segment liabilities 711,548 1,906,800 259,501 - 2,887,849 
      
Total liabilities     2,887,849 
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Note 4. Revenue 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Data subscriptions fees  1,873,358 3,397,165 
Brokerage and commissions revenue  3,232,288 3,547,060 
Corporate advisory fees  594,622 248,294 
  5,700,268 7,192,519 
    
Other revenue    
Interest  6,311 10,175 
Other  88,040 162,738 
  94,351 172,913 
    
  5,794,619 7,365,432 
 
Note 5. Expenses 
 
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 
 
Employee benefits expense    
Wages and salaries  1,797,998 2,116,497 
Other employment costs  221,417 263,045 
Reversal of share based payments  46,384 - 
  2,019,415 2,379,542 
    
Depreciation     
Plant and equipment  31,044 41,360 
Leasehold improvements  5,897 9,874 
  36,941 51,234 
    
Amortisation    
Software development  - 125,452 
Websites  3,676 3,676 
ASX membership  30,000 27,500 
Client list  14,000 14,000 
  47,676 170,628 
    
Impairment    
Software development  - 1,093,458 
  - 1,093,458 
    
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment  84,617 1,315,320 
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Note 5. Expenses (continued) 

 
Rental expense on operating leases Consolidated 
Property lease  

2013 
$ 

213,856 

 
2012 

$ 
206,135 

    
    
Finance costs    
Interest paid/payable  62,305 35,772 

 
 
 

Note 6. Income Tax Expense 
 

  
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Income tax expense    
Current tax  - - 
    
  - - 

    
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie 
income tax payable 

   

Loss before income tax from continuing operations  1,598,504 2,892,244 
    
Tax at the Australian rate of 30%  (479,551) (867,673) 
    
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

   

‐ Impairment of goodwill  - - 
‐ Impairment and amortisation of intangible assets  14,302 379,226 
‐ share based payments  - 28,571 
‐ black-hole expenditure  (13,916) (3,431) 
‐ unrealised loss/(gain) on investments  - 136,663 
‐ loss / (gain) on investment disposed on capital account  72,341  
‐ other items  3,441 61,008 
    
Current year tax losses and temporary differences not 
recognised 

  
406,056 

 
265,636 

    
Income tax expense  - - 

    
    
Tax losses    
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised 

  
9,673,301 

 
8,319,781 

    
Potential tax benefit @30%  2,901,990 2,495,934 
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Note 7. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 Note Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Current    
    
Cash at bank and on hand  315,526 288,755 

    
Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 

   

The above figures are reconciled to cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of 
cash flows as follows: 

   

    
Balance as per statement of cash flows  315,526 288,755 

    
 

Note 8. Trade and Other Receivables 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Current    
Trade receivables  742,125 518,157 
Allowance for doubtful debts  (85,020) (94,416) 
    
  657,105 423,741 
Other receivables  17,546 10,939 
    
  674,651 434,680 
 
Impairment of receivables 
The company has not recognised any additional impairment to receivables in 2013 (2012: 30,797). In the year $9,396 
previously impaired receivables were recovered.  
 
The ageing of the impaired receivables recognised above are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
1 to 30 days overdue  - - 
31 to 60 days overdue  - - 
Over 60 days overdue  85,020 94,416 
    
  85,020 94,416 
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Note 8. Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 
 
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Opening balance  94,416 30,797 
Additional provisions recognised  - 84,783 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  - (18,182) 
Unused amounts reversed  - (2,982) 
Recovered  (9,396)  
    
Closing balance  85,020 94,416 

 
 
Past due but not impaired 
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $674,651 as at 30 June 
2013 (2012: $42,546). The consolidated entity did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing 
agency credit information and credit terms of customers based on recent collection practices. 
 
The aging of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
1 to 30 days overdue  451,708 357,264 
31 to 60 days overdue  4,586 17,261 
Over 60 days overdue  218,357 60,155 
    
  674,651 434,680 
 
 
Note 9. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Current    
Ordinary shares - held for trading  - 8,840 
    
  - 8,840 
    
Reconciliation    
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below: 

   

    
Opening fair value  8,840 65,698 
Additions  - - 
Disposals  (6,901) (62,700) 
Revaluation increments to fair value  (1,939) 5,842 
    
Closing fair value  - 8,840 
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Note 9. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
   
Non-current    
Unlisted options – designated at fair value through profit or loss  - 239,198 
Share in other corporations – available for sale  152 152 
    
  152 239,350 

Reconciliation    
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below: 

   

    
Opening fair value  239,350 694,792 
Impaired  - - 
Revaluation increments to fair value  (239,198) (455,442) 
    
Closing fair value  152 239,350 
 
Previously held unlisted options held by the company were fully impaired as at 30th June 2013.  
 
 
Note 10. Other Assets 
 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Current    
Prepayments  151,272 106,067 
    
  151,272 106,067 

    
Non-current    
Bonds and guarantees  405,673 480,673 

    
 
Note 11. Plant and Equipment  
 
Non-current    
Plant and equipment – at cost  470,839 470,839 
Accumulated depreciation  (422,025) (390,981) 
    
  48,815 79,858 
    
Leasehold improvements – at cost  42,471 42,471 
Accumulated depreciation  (33,625) (27,728) 
    
  8,846 14,743 
    
Total plant and equipment – net book value  57,661 94,601 
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Note 11. Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Reconciliations 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current financial year 
 
  Plant and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Total 

  $ $ $
     
Consolidated     
Balance at 30 June 2012  79,858 14,743 94,601 
     
Additions  - - - 
Depreciation  (31,043) (5,897) (36,940) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2013  48,815 8,846 57,661 
     
 
 
Note 12. Intangible Assets 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Non-current    
    
Goodwill    
Cost  2,056,120 2,056,120 
Accumulated impairment losses  (995,288) (995,288) 
  1,060,832 1,060,832 
    
Websites    
Cost  38,381 38,381 
Accumulated impairment  (20,000) (20,000) 
Accumulated amortisation  (11,028) (7,352) 
  7,353 11,029 
    
Software development     
Cost  1,273,533 1,273,533 
Accumulated impairment  (1,093,458) (1,093,458) 
Accumulated amortisation  (180,075) (180,075) 
  - - 
ASX Membership     
Cost  150,000 150,000 
Accumulated amortisation  (57,500) (27,500) 
  92,500 122,500 
Customer List    
Cost  70,000 70,000 
Accumulated amortisation  (28,000) (14,000) 
  42,000 56,000 
Total intangibles  1,202,685 1,250,361 
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Note 12. Intangible assets (continued) 
 
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
 
 Goodwill Websites Software 

Development 
Assets 

ASX Licence Client List Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
       
Consolidated       
       
Balance at 30 June 2012 1,060,832 14,705 1,110,071 150,000 70,000 2,405,608 
       
Impairment - - (1,093,458) - - (1,093,458)
Amortisation - (3,676) (125,452) (27,500) (14,000) (170,628)
Internal development - - 108,839 - - 108,839 
       
Balance at 30 June 2012 1,060,832 11,029 - 122,500 56,000 1,250,361 
       
Impairment - - - - - - 
Amortisation - (3,676) - (30,000) (14,000) (47,767)
Internal development - - - - - - 
       
Balance at 30 June 2013 1,060,832 7,353 - 92,500 42,000 1,202,685 

 
Impairment testing 
 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash generating units: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Bourse Data software  1,060,832 1,060,832 
    
  1,060,832 1,060,832 

 
 
The recoverable amount of the consolidated entity’s goodwill has been determined by a value-in-use calculation using a 
discounted cash flow model, based on a 12 month projection period approved by management and extrapolated for a 
further 5 years by using a steady rate. 
 
Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating units is most sensitive. 
 
The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model in relation to the goodwill associated with 
the Bourse Data application: 
 
a.15% (2012: 15%) pre-tax discount rate; and, 
b.2.5% (2012: nil) per annum projected revenue growth rate. 
 
The discount rate of 15% pre-tax reflects management’s estimate of the time value of money and the consolidated 
entity’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risk free rate and the volatility of the share price relative to 
market movements. 
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Note 12. Intangible assets (continued) 
 
Based on the above, Management is satisfied that there are no indicators of impairment to the current carrying value of 
goodwill.  
 
Websites 
Websites are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of two to five years. 
 
Software development assets 
Software development is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the useful life of the underlying asset, 
which is currently estimated to be 10 years. 
 
ASX membership 
The cost of acquiring D2MX Pty Ltd’s market participant status of the Australian Securities Exchange is being amortised 
over a period of five years commencing from the time that the Group’s existing third-party execution facilities were 
transferred to D2MX Pty Ltd in August 2011. 
 
Client list 
The client list was acquired by the Group from the MINC Financial Services group on 19 April 2011.  The client list has a 
finite life considered to be five years, amortised on a straight-line basis. 
 
 
Note 13. Trade and Other Payables 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Current    
Trade payables  1,705,165 1,212,421 
Other payables  174,273 144,979 
Accruals  450,910 441,877 
    
  2,330,347 1,799,277 

    
 
Note 14. Borrowings 
 
Current 
 

   

Other loans  - 476,655 
Less prepaid borrowing costs  - (109,603) 
    
  - 367,052 

    
    
In 2012 other loans comprise of outstanding principal on the draw-down of USD$600,000 under the terms of a Secured 
Loan Agreement between the Company and TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP on 16th March 2012.  Interest is payable 
at a rate of 12.0 percent per annum. The loan was fully paid and other obligations fully satisfied during April 2013. 
 
Further information about other loans is included as part of Note 21 – Financial Instruments and Note 24 – Contingent 
Liabilities. 
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Note 15. Deferred Income 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Current    
Deferred income  263,903 375,354 

    
 
Deferred income, classified as current, consists of customer subscription fees paid in advance for the provision of 
services expected to be earned over the next 12 months. 
 
 
Note 16. Employee Benefits 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Current    
Liability for annual leave  86,224 114,493 
Liability for long service leave  98,951 90,743 
    
  185,175 205,236 

 
Non-current    
Liability for long service leave  23,047 31,327 
    
  23,047 31,327 

    
    
Note 17. Equity - contributed 
    
442,311,012 (2012: 317,072,916) 
Fully Paid Ordinary shares 

 23,418,956 21,940,384 

    
  23,418,956 21,940,384 

 
 
Movements in ordinary share capital 
 
Details Date No of shares Issue price $
     
Balance 30-Jun-12 317,072,916  21,940,384 
Issue of shares 31-Oct-12 16,666,667 $0.015 250,000 
Issue of shares 31-Dec-12 9,480,000 $0.015 142,200 
Issue of shares 31-Dec-12 9,480,000 $0.015 142,200 
Issue of shares 31-Dec-12 6,333,333 $0.015 95,000 
Issue of shares 31-Dec-12 3,278,096 $0.015 49,171 
Issue of shares 24-Jun-13 30,000,000 $0.010 300,000 
Issue of shares 24-Jun-13 50,000,000 $0.010 500,000 
Balance 30-Jun-13 442,311,012 23,418,956 
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Note 17. Equity – contributed (continued) 
 
 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared, and, in the event of winding up the company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
shares held. 
 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.  The shares 
have no par value. 
 
Capital risk management 
 
The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that it can provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The consolidated entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as 
value adding relative to the current parent entity’s share price at the time of the investment.  The consolidated entity is 
not actively pursuing additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing business in 
order to maximise synergies. 
 
The consolidated entity is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these are given priority in all 
capital risk management decisions.  There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the 
financial year. 
 
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2012 Annual Report. 
 
 
Note 18. Equity – reserves 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Share based payments  46,384 46,384 
    
  46,384 46,384 

    
Movement:    
Share based payments    
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  46,384 46,384 
Option expense  - - 
    
Balance at the end of the financial year  46,384 46,384 

    
    
 
The unlisted options lapsed on the 30 June 2013. As per accounting standards they remain in reserves. 
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Note 19. Equity – accumulated losses 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year  21,861,687 18,969,443 
Loss after income tax expense for the year  1,598,504 2,892,244 
Share based payments  - - 
    
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year  23,460,192 21,861,687 

    
 
Note 20. Equity – dividends 
 
Dividends    
No dividends have been paid or declared during 2013 (2012: Nil)    
    
Franking credits    
Franking credits available at the reporting date based on a tax 
rate of 30% 

  
1,422,418 

 
1,422,418 

 
 
Note 21. Financial Instruments 
 
Financial risk management objectives 
The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, 
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  The consolidated entity’s overall risk management program 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the consolidated entity.  The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk 
to which it is exposed.  These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate and other price risks and 
ageing analysis for credit risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (“finance”) under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors (‘Board’).  These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated entity and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits.  Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the 
consolidated entity’s operating units.  Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 
 
Market risk 
Foreign currency risk 
The consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.  
 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting.  
 
The consolidated entity has not entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to protect against exchange rate 
movements.  The directors are of the view that the cost of hedging the consolidated entity’s short-term foreign exchange 
exposure outweighs the risk of adverse currency movements. 
 
The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the reporting date was as follows. 
 
 Assets Liabilities
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 $ $ $ $
Consolidated  
US dollars 572 151,620 - 476,655 
  

572 
 

151,620 
 

- 
 

476,655 
.  



 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 62
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 21. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The consolidated entity had net liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of $572 (assets $572 less liabilities $nil) as 
at 30 June 2013 (2012: $Nil (assets $151,620 less liabilities $476,655)). 
 
Price risk 
In the year financial assets were sold and while remaining assets were recognised in accordance with accounting 
standards resulting in remaining financial assets being written down to a $nil value. The company does not hold any 
financial assets as at year ending 2013. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The consolidated entity is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
The consolidated entity’s borrowings outstanding totalled $nil (2012: $476,655), the borrowing was a principal and 
interest payment loan.  Monthly cash outlays were approximately $3,284 (2012: Nil) per month as required to service the 
interest payments which was at a fixed rate at 12.0 percent per annum.  In addition, minimum principal payments of 
$476,655 were made during the year ending 30 June 2013. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated entity basis.  Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the consolidated entity.  The Board of Directors has established a 
credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the  
reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, 
as disclosed in the statement of financial position and note to the financial statements.   The consolidated entity does not 
hold any collateral.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and 
cash equivalents) to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring actual 
and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Financing arrangements 
Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Other loans  - 1,365,854 
    
  - 1,365,854 

    
 
Unused borrowing facilities were available in 2012 comprising of US $1,400,000 available via a committed equity facility 
agreement with TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP, and an investment fund registered in the Cayman Islands.  
Following the satisfaction of the initial draw down the company decided to relinquish the right to use this facility in April 
2013 following a review.  
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Note 21. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following table details the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities.  
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the financial liabilities are required to be paid.  The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed 
as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of 
financial position.  
 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
% 

1 year or 
less 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

Over 5 
years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

2013   
       
Non-derivatives   
Non-interest bearing       
Trade payables - 1,705,164 - - - 1,705,164 
       
Interest bearing       
Other loans - - - - - - 
       
  1,705,164 - - - 1,705,164 
 
2012   
       
Non-derivatives   
Non-interest bearing       
Trade payables - 1,212,421 - - - 1,212,421 
       
Interest bearing       
Other loans 12.00 476,675 - - - 476,675 
       
  1,689,076 - - - 1,689,076 
 
Trade payables are due normally within 60 days.  The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to 
occur significantly earlier than disclosed. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
The following table details the consolidated entity’s fair values of financial instruments categorised by the following levels: 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
2013   
       
Assets   
Listed ordinary shares   - - - - 
Unlisted ordinary shares   - - 152 152 
Unlisted options   - - - - 
       
   - - 152 152 
 

       
2012   
       
Assets   
Listed ordinary shares   8,040 - - 8,040 
Unlisted ordinary shares   - - 152 152 
Unlisted options   - 239,350 - 239,350 
       
   8,040 239,350 152 247,542 
 
There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 
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Note 21. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial assets reflect their fair value.  The carrying amounts of trade 
receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  The fair 
value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market interest 
rate that is available for similar financial instruments. 

 
Note 22. Key management personnel disclosures 
 
Directors 
The following persons were directors of MDS Financial Group Limited during the financial year: 
 
Mr Sean Peter Rothsey  Non-Executive Chairman (resigned 23rd January 2013) 
Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo Independent, Non-Executive Director  
Mr Wayne Noel Johnson  Executive Chairman (appointed on 23rd January 2013) 
Mr Damian Wayne Isbister  CEO Corporate and Trading (resigned 13th July 2013) 
Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon Executive Director 
 
Other key management personnel 
The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities 
of the consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year: 
 
Mr Thomas Patrick Boland CEO - Trading  

 (resigned 31st January 2013) 
Mr Craig Bradley Foley Chief Information Officer 
Mr Anthony John Iremonger Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

 (resigned 17th July 2012) 
Mr Andrew Guy Phillips Acting Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

 (appointed 17th June 2012) 
  
Remuneration 
The aggregate remuneration made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated 
entity is set out below: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Short-term employee benefits  774,860 910,268 
Post employment benefits  30,857 72,320 
Share-based payments  - - 
    
  805,717 982,588 

 
Shareholding 
The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties is set out below 
 
30 June 2013 Balance at the 

start of the year 
 

Received as part 
of remuneration 

Additions Disposals/ 
other 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

S Rothsey 16,493,688 - 25,000,000 - 41,493,688 
W Johnson 17,615,199  - - 17,615,199 
D Isbister 26,326,632 - - 25,000,000 1,326,632 
R Symon 28,545,000 - - - 28,545,000 
P Stirling - - 80,000,000 - 80,000,000 
T Boland 1,441,667 - 258,333 - 1,700,000 
C Foley 114,242 - -  114,242 
A Iremonger 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 
      
 103,536,428 - 105,258,333 25,000,000 103,536,428 
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Note 22. Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 
30 June 2012 Balance at the 

start of the year 
 

Received as part 
of remuneration 

Additions Disposals/ 
other 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

S Rothsey 16,493,688 - - - 16,493,688 
W Johnson 17,615,199  - - 17,615,199 
D Isbister 26,326,632 - - - 26,326,632 
R Symon 28,545,000 - - - 28,545,000 
T Boland 1,441,667 - - - 1,441,667 
C Foley 114,242 - -  114,242 
A Iremonger 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 
      
 103,536,428 - - - 103,536,428 
 
Option holding 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out 
below: 
 
30 June 2013  

 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
 

Granted 
as remun-

eration 
during the 

year 

 
 

Expired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Acquired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
 

Vested 
during the 

year 

 
 

Vested and 
exercise-

able 

 
Vested 

and 
unexer-
cisable 

W Johnson 12,500,000 - (12,500,000) - - - - - 
         
 12,500,000 - (12,500,000) - - - - - 
 
30 June 2012  

 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
 

Granted 
as remun-

eration 
during the 

year 

 
 

Expired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Acquired 
during the 

year 

 
 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
 

Vested 
during the 

year 

 
 

Vested and 
exercise-

able 

 
Vested 

and 
unexer-
cisable 

D Isbister 27,000,000 - (27,000,000) - - - - - 
A Iremonger 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - - - - - 
R Symon 25,000,000 - (25,000,000) - - - - - 
W Johnson - 12,500,000 - - - 12,500,000 12,500,000 - 
         
 62,000,000 12,500,000 (62,000,000) - - 12,500,000 12,500,000 - 
 
 
Receivable from and payable to key management personnel 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to remuneration arrangements with key 
management personnel: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Trade payables to Noblemen Ventures Pty Ltd (director-related 
entity of Mr Wayne Johnson) 

  
141,350 

 
11,000 

Trade payables to Symon Financial Services Pty Ltd (director 
related entity of Mr Richard Symon 

  
96,257 

 
11,000 

Trade payables to Merkin Pastoral Holdings Pty Ltd (director 
related entity of Mr Sean Rothsey) 
Trade payables to Sarah Guy (Company secretary-related entity 
of Mr Andrew Phillips) 

  
18,413 

 
71,892 

 
22,569 

 
- 

    
 
Related party transactions 
Related party transactions are set out in note 26  
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Note 23. Remuneration of auditors 
 
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Hall Chadwick (2012: BDO 
East Coast Partnership (formally PKF East Coast Practice)), the auditor of the company, and its related practices: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Audit services    
Audit or review of the financial report  47,000 61,000 
Audit of Australian Financial Services Licences  9,000 12,500 
    
Other services    
Tax services  4,500 18,665 
    
    
  60,500 92,165 

    
 
Note 24. Contingent liabilities 
 
Contingent liabilities 
The consolidated entity has given bank guarantees as at 30 June 2013 of $nil (2012: $74,673) to its landlord and 
reduced the credit card facility by $25,000 (2012: $50,000), to its bankers. 
 

 
Note 25. Commitments for expenditure 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Less than one year  238,569 225,872 
Between one and five years  279,771 395,108 
More than five years  2,280 - 
    
  520,620 620,980 

    
 
Commitments relate to the lease of the Group’s Melbourne premises and computer data centre.  The property lease is a 
non-cancellable lease with a five-year term, with rent payable monthly in advance.  Contingent rental provisions within 
the lease agreement require that minimum lease payments shall be increased by 4% per annum.  Rental of the data 
centre is for a renewable 12 month period. A five year operational lease for printing facility; flat rate commenced in 
January 2012. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 67
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

Note 26. Related Party Transactions 
 
Parent entity 
MDS Financial Group Limited is the parent entity and ultimate controlling entity. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 28. 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 22 and the remuneration report in the directors’ 
report. 
 
Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Payment of commission on corporate advisory fees to Merkin 
Pastoral Holdings Pty Ltd (director related entity of Sean 
Rothsey) 
 

  
 

- 

 
 

103,019 

Payment of commission to Noblemen Ventures Pty Ltd (director 
related entity of Wayne Johnson) 
 

  
17,500 

 
- 

Payment of commission to Symon Financial Services Pty Ltd 
(director related entity of Richard Symon) 
 

  
19,998 

 
- 

 
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
There were no receivables from or payable to related parties at reporting date in relation to transactions with related 
parties detailed above. 
 
Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans for or from related parties at the reporting date. 
 
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates 
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Note 27. Parent entity information 
 
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
 
 Parent 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Loss after tax  (454,140) (474,385) 
    
Total comprehensive income  (454,140) (474,385) 

    
 
 
Statement of financial position 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Total current assets  125,769 196,318 
    
Total assets  1,486,601 1,557,150 
    
Total current liabilities  650,402 859,367 
    
Total liabilities  979,389 1,250,613 
    
Net Assets  507,212 306,537 

    
Equity    
 Contributed equity  55,097,891 53,619,319 
 Reserves  46,384 46,384 
 Accumulated losses  (54,637,063) (53,359,166) 
    
Total equity  507,212 306,537 

 
 
Contingent liabilities 
Details of the parent entity’s contingent liability arising in relation to its obligations under the terms of a Secured Loan 
Agreement with TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP are set out in Note 24.  The parent entity had no contingent liabilities 
at 30 June 2013. 
 
Capital commitments – Property, Plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property plant and equipment as at 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012. 
 
Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, 
except for the following: 

• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment. 
• Investments in associated are accounted for at cost, less any impairment. 
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Note 28. Subsidiaries 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
 
 
 
Name of entity 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Percentage Owned
(%) 

 2013 2012
 Subsidiaries of MDS Financial Group Limited    
 Bourse Data Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 The Cube Financial Group Limited Australia 100 100 
 D2MX Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 Market Data Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 MDSnews Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 MDSnews.com Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 MDS Financial Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
    
 Subsidiaries of MDSnews.com Pty Ltd.    
 Trader Dealer Online Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
 
 
 
 
Note 29. Events occurring after the reporting date 
 
 
On the 5th September 2013 the Board announced that Mr. Peter Stirling, a newly-appointed director and substantial 
shareholder of the Company, together with an associate will support a rights issue strategy through provision of a 
convertible note facility of $250,000. The facility is for a period of six months or on earlier completion of the rights issue, 
whereupon it will automatically convert to shares under the same terms as offered to all shareholders under the rights 
issue. The facility will attract an 8%per annum coupon until it is repaid or the conversion is completed. 
 
On the 24th September the Board announced on a one for three rights issue at 0.01 at a maximum of 1,474,000 shares 
to give a new maximum total share of MDS Financial Group Limited announced on the 24th September it will be 
conducting a non-renounceable pro-rata rights issue at an issue price of $0.01 for each new ordinary share on the basis 
of one new share for every three shares held on the record date, to raise up to the sum of $1,474 million. The company 
will issue a maximum of 147,437,004 new shares, giving a new total of 589,748,016 of shares on issue. It is noted that 
shareholder approval is not required for the rights issue to proceed. This Rights Issue has been partially underwritten for 
$250,000 by Sequoia Asset Management Pty Ltd, as part of a strategic alignment between the two Companies. 

Other than the above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2013 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s 
state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Note 30. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash from operating activities 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
(a) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flow used in 
operating activities 

   

    
Loss for the year  (1,598,504) (2,892,244) 
    
Non-cash flows in operating loss    
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  84,617 1,315,320 
Fair value adjustment on investments  241,136 449,600 
Fair value adjustment on borrowings  - 11,348 
Share based payments expense  - 95,238 
Investments acquired for non-cash consideration  - - 
    
Changes in working capital and provisions    
    
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (241,970) (58,623) 
Decrease/(increase) in other assets  139,398 (507,660) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other creditors  533,069 671,459 
Decrease in deferred income  (111,450) (118,797) 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions for employee benefits  (28,342) 22,315 
    
Net cash used in operating activities  (982,046) (1,012,044) 

    
    
 
 
  



 

MDS Financial Group Limited - Annual Report 2013 71
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 31. Earnings per share 
 
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
    
Earnings per share from continuing operations    
Loss after income tax  1,598,504 2,892,244 
    
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of MDS 
Financial Group Limited 

  
1,598,504 

 
2,892,244 

    
   
  Number Number
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share 

  
343,949,628 

 
313,599,067 

Adjustments for calculation of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share: 

   

 Options*  - - 
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
diluted earnings per share 

  
343,949,628 

 
313,599,067 

    
   
  Cents Cents
    
Basic earnings per share  (0.465) (0.922) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.465) (0.922) 
    

 
*Options to acquire ordinary shares are not considered dilutive as the exercise of the options would decrease the basic 
loss per share. 

Note 32. Share based payments 
 
A share option plan has been established by the consolidated entity and approved by shareholders at a general meeting, 
whereby the consolidated entity may, at the discretion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, grant options 
over ordinary shares in the parent entity to certain key management personnel of the consolidated entity.  The options, 
which vest immediately, are issued for nil consideration and are granted in accordance with performance guidelines 
established by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
 
Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan: 
 
2013     
Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price 
Balance at 
the start of 
the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
18/05/11 30/06/13 $0.05 12,500,000 - - 12,500,000 - 
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Note 34. Share based payments (continued) 
 
2012     
Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price 
Balance at 
the start of 
the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

 
18/05/11 30/06/13 $0.05 - 12,500,000 - - 12,500,000 
27/11/08 27/11/10 $0.05 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 

        
 
Options expired by year end 2013 (2012: 1.0 years remaining). 
 
Employee share scheme 
A share plan has been established by the consolidated entity and approved by shareholders at a general meeting, 
whereby the consolidated entity may issue shares to employees for no cash consideration.  All Australian resident 
permanent employees (excluding executive directors) who have been continuously employed by the group for a period of 
at least one year are eligible to participate in the scheme.  Employees may elect not to participate in the scheme. 
 
The scheme is administered by Trinity Management Group Pty Ltd, an unrelated third-party.  The scheme’s Trustee is 
Trinity Management Pty Ltd. 
 
Shares issued by the trust to the employees may be acquired on-market prior to the issue or issued as new shares by 
the parent entity. 
 
Under the scheme, eligible employees may be granted up to $1,000 worth of fully paid ordinary shares in MDS Financial 
Group Limited annually for no cash consideration. The market value of shares issued under the scheme, measured as 
the weighted average price at which the company’s shares are traded on the ASX during the week up to and including 
the grant, is recognised as part of employee benefit costs in the period the shares are granted. 
 
Offers under the scheme are at the discretion of the company. 
 
Shares issued under the scheme may not be sold until the earlier of three years after issue or cessation of employment 
by the group.  In all other respects the shares rank equally with other fully-paid ordinary shares on issue (refer to note 
17). 
 
The number of shares issued to participants in the scheme is the offer amount divided by the weighted average price at 
which the company’s shares are traded on the ASX during the week up to and including the date of the grant. 
 
Where shares are issued to employees of subsidiaries within the group, the subsidiaries compensate MDS Financial 
Group Limited for the fair value of these shares. 
 
No shares were issued under the plan in 2013 or 2012. 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 
In the directors’ opinion 
 

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 
• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements; 
 

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 259A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Wayne Johnson 
Chairman 
 
 
 
30 September 2013 
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SHARE HOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report.  This additional information was applicable as at 17 September 2013. 
 
1. Top 20 Shareholders 
 
The names of the twenty largest shareholders of each class of listed securities are listed below: 

 
 

Rank  Name  Units  % of Units 

1  MR PETER STIRLING + MRS ROS STIRLING  80,000,000  18.09 

2  KAITONG INDUSTRY CO LTD  33,333,334  7.54 

3  MR RICHARD SYMON  25,750,000  5.82 

4  MERKIN PASTORAL HOLDINGS PTY LTD <ROTHSEY FAMILY A/C>  25,000,000  5.65 

5  CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  24,410,391  5.52 

6  GLOBAL EQUITY MANAGEMENT PTY LTD  21,422,361  4.84 

7  ALUN STEVENS & ASSOCIATES PTY LTD <THE STEVENS FAMILY A/C>  20,923,737  4.73 

8  MS LOETITIA HENRIETTE TIBI  20,048,300  4.53 

9  MRS XIANFENG YIN  16,666,667  3.77 

10  MERKIN MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <ROTHSEY SUPER FUND A/C>  16,493,688  3.73 

11  BARODA HILL INVESTMENTS LIMITED  15,696,000  3.55 

12  MR YIH PEIR JEFFREY HING + MS BEI KEEN WONG  15,000,000  3.39 

13  HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED‐GSCO ECA  15,000,000  3.39 

14  FINICO PTY LIMITED  12,342,382  2.79 

15  MR ANTHONY JOHN IREMONGER + MS JIAN FANG SUN  10,000,000  2.26 

16 
MR STEPHEN JOHN BRADY + MRS SEBASTIANA DIANA BRADY <S & D BRADY FAMILY 
A/C>  8,463,554  1.91 

17  MR LEON HINDE  6,522,361  1.47 

18  MR STIVEN RAZMOVSKI + MRS TRAJANKA RAZMOVSKI <THE RAZZ A/C>  5,862,552  1.33 

19  BETHCORP PTY LTD <JONIC INV P/L S/F A/C>  5,700,000  1.29 

20  MS LAY KEE TAY  5,553,700  1.26 

Totals: Top 20 holders of ISSUED CAPITAL  384,189,027  86.86 

Total Remaining Holders Balance  58,121,985  13.14 
 

 
2. Distribution of equity securities 
 
Analysis of ordinary shareholders by size of holding: 
 

Range 
 

Number of Shareholders

1 - 1,000 28 
1,001 – 5,000 5 

5,001 – 10,000 20 
10,001 – 100,000 113 

100,001 – 999,999,999 78 
1,000,000,000 and over 0 

  
TOTAL 244 
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3. Restricted Securities 
 
There are no restricted securities on issue. 
 
 
4. Voting Rights 
 
The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares, set out in the Company’s Constitution are: 
 

(a) at meetings of members, each member is entitled to vote in person or by proxy, attorney or representative; 
and, 

 
(b) on a show of hands, every person present who is a member has one vote, and on a poll every member 

present has a vote for each fully paid share owned. 
 
There are no voting rights attached to un-listed ordinary shares or unlisted options, voting rights will be attached to un-
listed ordinary shares once issued and to options upon exercise. 
 
 
5. On-market Buy Back 
 
There is no current on-market buy back. 
 
 
6. Review of Operations 
 
A review of operations for the Group is set out on pages 5 to 9 of this annual report, commencing with the Chairman’s 
Report. 
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Company Directors  
Mr Wayne Noel Johnson 
Ms Jamie Gee Choo Khoo 

Chairman 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Bruce Richard Sydney Symon 
Mr Peter John Stirling 

Executive Director 
Non-Executive Director 

  
Company Secretary  
Mr Andrew Guy Phillips  
  
Registered Office  
Level 37, Rialto South Tower 
525 Collins Street 
Melbourne   VIC   3000 
Telephone: + 61 3 9617 0600 
Facsimile: + 61 3 9617 0699 
 

 

Share Registry  
Computershare Limited 
Yarra Falls 
452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford   VIC   3067 
 

 

Bankers  
National Australia Bank 
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